## Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-14-2022 10:00 AM

# Associations Between Testosterone, Androgen Receptor Polymorphism, And Mood

Christopher Purkis, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Hampson, Elizabeth, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Neuroscience © Christopher Purkis 2022

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Neuroscience and Neurobiology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Purkis, Christopher, "Associations Between Testosterone, Androgen Receptor Polymorphism, And Mood" (2022). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 8574. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8574

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### Abstract

Recent findings suggest that insufficient testosterone levels may be associated with depressive affect in men. Genetic variability in the androgen receptor (polyglutamine [CAG] repeat length) may be important for this relationship. However, the relationship between testosterone, androgen receptor CAG repeat length, and depressive affect remains inconclusive. The current thesis examined the association between testosterone concentration, androgen receptor CAG repeat length, and depressive affect in 218 young men with diverse mood patterns. Saliva samples were collected to quantify bioavailable testosterone, cortisol, and CAG repeat length. Participants completed the Profile of Mood States scale. In men with low testosterone concentrations, lower testosterone and longer androgen receptor CAG lengths predicted greater negative affect. Testosterone, CAG length, and negative affect were unrelated in men with average or higher testosterone concentrations. Cortisol concentrations were not related to negative affect. These findings suggest a complex relationship between testosterone and depressive affect in young men.

## Keywords

Testosterone, sex steroid, androgen receptor, AR polymorphism, CAG repeat, cortisol, depression, negative mood, males

## Summary for Lay Audience

The regulation of mood is a complex process, and no single model can explain all aspects of mood, or the emergence of pathological mood states like depression. For example, biological, psychological, and environmental mechanisms can all contribute to different mood states in different individuals, as well as the development of mood disorders. Of the biological mechanisms, little is known with respect to the role of the sex hormone testosterone (T) in mood regulation in men. Recent research suggests that insufficient T activity may increase the risk of depressive affect in men. T achieves its effects in the human body primarily by binding to the androgen receptor (AR). Consequently, genetic variability in the AR which produces differences in AR function may be important for understanding the relationship between T and mood regulation. Specifically, a variable polyglutamine (CAG) repeat length within the AR gene produces differences in AR activity and may contribute to mood states, as well as an increased risk of depression. However, the relationship between T levels, AR CAG repeat length, and depressive affect in men remains inconclusive. Consequently, the current thesis sought to investigate the statistical relationship between T activity and depressive affect in 218 physically healthy young men. Participants attended a single test session in our laboratory. Saliva samples were collected to quantify bioavailable T and cortisol levels, as well as to measure AR CAG repeat length. Participants completed the Profile of Mood States (POMS), a standardized mood scale, to measure recent mood, including depressive affect. Principal components analysis of the POMS identified 7 mood components, including a Negative Affect (NA) component. For men with low circulating T concentrations, lower bioavailable T and longer AR CAG repeat lengths were predictive of greater NA. A relationship between T activity and NA was not found in individuals with average or higher T concentrations. Circulating cortisol concentrations were unrelated to NA. The findings of the current thesis suggest a complex relationship exists between circulating T and negative mood in young men, and that levels of bioavailable T may influence the intensity of depressive affect experienced.

## Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Elizabeth Hampson. I am incredibly appreciative for your guidance, patience, and support throughout my time as a graduate student. The last two years have been filled with an unprecedented number of difficulties and uncertainties. However, your dedication and scholarship have been critical in the development and completion of this thesis. From the last year of my undergraduate degree, I am extremely grateful for the knowledge and skills that I have acquired under your mentorship.

I must give special thanks to the members of my advisory committee, Dr. David Dozois and Dr. Klaus-Peter Ossenkopp. I am very appreciative for the expertise and support you provided me with throughout this thesis.

Similarly, I must also extend my appreciation to Bavani Rajakumar and The Centre for Applied Genomics at Sick Kids Hospital for conducting the hormonal assays and DNA genotyping, respectively, for this research.

Finally, I am extremely grateful for my family and friends. Although these last two years have been difficult for everyone, you have gone out of your way to provide me with unwavering support. I am forever thankful for you. I would not have been able to complete this journey without you.

Abstract	i
Summary for Lay Audience	. ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures v	iii
List of Appendices	ix
Chapter 1	. 1
1 Introduction	. 1
1.1 Depression	. 1
1.1.1 Prevalence of Depression	. 1
1.1.2 Symptomatology of Depression	. 2
1.2 Regulation of Mood	.4
1.3 Testosterone	. 7
1.3.1 Testosterone the Sex Steroid Hormone	. 7
1.3.2 Testosterone Actions in the CNS	. 8
1.4 Testosterone and Depressive Affect	10
1.4.1 Seminal Work in Hypogonadal Men	10
1.4.2 Apparent Inverse Relationship Between Testosterone and Mood	11
1.4.3 Conflicting Evidence	13
1.5 Androgen Receptor	16
1.5.1 Androgen Receptor Structure and Function	16
1.5.2 Major Androgen Receptor Polymorphisms	18
1.5.3 Polyglutamine (CAG) Repeat Polymorphism	19

# Table of Contents

	1.6	Testos	terone Activity and Depressive Affect	21
	1.7	Gaps i	n the Literature	24
Chapter 2				
2	Me	thods		26
	2.1 Participants			
	2.2 Study Design			28
	2.3 Measures			30
		2.3.1	Profile of Mood States (POMS)	30
		2.3.2	AR Genotyping	32
		2.3.3	Testosterone Measurement	34
		2.3.4	Cortisol Measurement	35
	2.4	Statist	ical Analysis	36
C	hapte	er 3		38
3	Res	ults		38
	3.1 Data Processing			38
	3.2 Biological Measures			38
3.3 Measurement of Mood			rement of Mood	40
		3.3.1	Profile of Mood States (POMS)	40
		3.3.2	Principal Components Analysis (PCA)	45
	3.4	T Acti	vity and Depressive Affect	46
	3.5	Predic	tion of Depressive Affect	50
	3.6	Predic	tion of Other Mood Components	56
	3.7	Basal	Cortisol and Depressive Affect	56
C	hapte	er 4		63
4	Dis	cussion		63
	4.1	T Acti	vity and Depressive Affect	63

4.2 Cortisol and Depressive Affect		
4.3 Strengths, Limitations, Future Directions		
4.4 Implications and Conclusions	71	
References		
Appendices		
Curriculum Vitae		

## List of Tables

Table 1: Reliability of the Profile of Mood States (POMS) Subscales in the Present Dataset.
Table 2: Descriptive Statistics for the Profile of Mood States (POMS). 44
Table 3: Results of the Principal Components Analysis of the POMS
Table 4: Distribution of Items from the Original POMS Scale That Loaded on the Negative
Affect Component in the Present Study
Table 5: Prediction of Depressive Affect in the Entire Sample and in the High T Subgroup.53
Table 6: Prediction of the Negative Affect Component in the Low T Subgroup
Table 7: Prediction of the Other PCA-Derived Mood Components in the Low T Subgroup. 57
Table 8: Regression of Negative Affect on Basal Cortisol Concentration. 61

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Average Salivary Testosterone Concentration.	41
Figure 2: Androgen Receptor CAG Repeat Length	42
Figure 3: Average Basal Cortisol Concentration.	43
Figure 4: The Relationship Between T Concentration and Depressive Affect	52
Figure 5: The Relationship Between Cortisol and Depressive Affect	60

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: Poster for Recruitment from Western Campus	106
Appendix B: Health and Demographics Questionnaire	107
Appendix D. Treath and Demographics Questionnane	107

## Chapter 1

## 1 Introduction

## 1.1 Depression

#### 1.1.1 Prevalence of Depression

Depression is one of the most common mood disorders in the world, affecting individuals across all groups within society. The one-year prevalence of major depressive disorder (MDD) in North America is approximately 6% overall (Kessler & Bromet, 2013). The lifetime risk of developing depression is significantly higher, at approximately 15-18% (Bromet et al., 2011). Therefore, nearly one in five individuals will experience at least one episode of depression over the course of their lives. With such a high prevalence, this mental health disorder is a huge individual and economic burden on society (Wells et al., 1989; Wang, Simon, & Kessler, 2003). Consequently, greater research is required to inform the development of more effective treatment and prevention programs.

Although depression is a widespread disorder, it does not affect all groups within society equally. For example, a sex difference in the prevalence of depression is well established. Specifically, females consistently report higher rates of depression compared to males (Ibrahim et al., 2013; Kessler & Bromet, 2013; Lim et al., 2018). However, despite their lower lifetime risk of major depression, males have greater difficulty with seeking and accepting support for their depressive symptoms than females (Liang & George, 2012; NIH, 2018). Consequently, while there are many complex factors regulating mood (Malhi & Mann, 2018), the existence of a sex difference in the prevalence of depression suggests a possible role of sex hormones, such as androgens and estrogens, in regulating mood.

In addition to a sex difference, another population that is affected by disproportionately higher rates of depression and negative mood than the general population are university students and young adults. A recent meta-analysis by Ibrahim and colleagues analyzed 24 articles published between 1990 and 2010 that assessed the prevalence of depression among university students across North America, Europe, Asia, and the Middle East. They reported

a weighted mean prevalence rate of depression in university students of 30.6% (Ibrahim et al., 2013). This figure is considerably higher than the roughly 6% one-year prevalence rate of major depressive disorder in the general adult population (Kessler & Bromet, 2013). Several biological, psychological, and sociological explanations have been proposed to account for this high prevalence, including the possibility that university students perceive experiences related to university life as threatening, which negatively impacts their mental health and increases their risk of depressive symptoms (Ramón-Arbués et al., 2020). Among university students, a sex difference in prevalence is maintained, as female university students have been found to be significantly more depressed than their male counterparts (Young, Fang, & Zisook, 2010; Ghodasara et al., 2011; Kessler et al., 2015; Ramón-Arbués et al., 2020). Although the high prevalence of depression in university students is very concerning in general, the high rate in male students is especially worrisome given that they are less likely to seek out or accept support. Specifically, completed suicide rates, for which mood disorders such as depression are typically implicated, are significantly higher in males than females (Möller-Leimkühler, 2003).

#### 1.1.2 Symptomatology of Depression

For most individuals, depression has a gradual onset and episodic course. However, depression can also have a sudden onset in some, and its pattern throughout one's life can vary significantly. Previous research has found that individuals are most likely to experience their first episode of MDD between adolescence and middle age (Malhi & Mann, 2018). However, almost half of all individuals experience their first depressive episode before age 20, and the mean onset for MDD is consistently found to be in the mid-20s (Kessler et al., 2005). To identify cases of depression, diagnostic systems such as the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5<sup>th</sup> edition* (DSM-5; APA, 2013) and *Beck Depression Inventory-II* (BDI-II; Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996) measure important hallmark symptoms.

The most well-known symptom of depression is negative affect, such as feelings of worthlessness, hopelessness, and helplessness (NIH, 2018). However, depression can also manifest in a wide array of additional symptoms. One of the most commonly reported

symptoms associated with depression is disturbances in sleep (Yates et al., 2004; Benca & Peterson, 2008; Kaplan & Harvey, 2009), which can take the form of either insomnia or hypersomnia (Yates et al., 2004; Benca & Peterson, 2008), resulting in fragmented sleep and poor sleep quality. Researchers have found the relationship between depressed mood and disturbed sleep to be bidirectional, as poor sleep can be antecedent to depressed mood, and depressed mood can disrupt typical patterns of sleep (Murphy & Peterson, 2015). In addition to disturbed sleep, anhedonia, defined as the loss of interest, pleasure, and initiative (Cooper, Arulpragasam, & Treadway, 2018), is also a core feature of depression (Treadway & Zald, 2011). Furthermore, it is common for individuals suffering from depression to experience increases and/or decreases in appetite, as well as corresponding changes in weight (Nierenberg et al., 1996; Maxwell & Cole, 2009). Anxiety is also often co-morbid with depression, as previous research has found that nearly 70% of individuals with MDD have clinically significant levels of anxiety (Goldberg & Fawcett, 2012). Finally, patients with depression often exhibit cognitive dysfunction (Lam et al., 2014), including impairments in facial emotion recognition, memory, learning, and concentration (Murrough et al., 2011; Halvorsen et al., 2012).

In general, the core symptoms of depression typically fall into 1 of 3 categories: affective, such as feelings of worthlessness; neurovegetative, such as insomnia; and cognitive, such as impaired facial emotion recognition (Malhi & Mann, 2018). Factor analytic studies of different depressive measures, such as the BDI-II (Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996) and *Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale* (CES-D; Radloff, 1977), have confirmed that such measures not only assess the affective symptoms of depression, but that they also assess neurovegetative and cognitive symptoms (Brown, Kaplan, & Jason, 2012; Sankar & Hampson, 2012). However, despite the existence of a wide array of depressive symptoms, no single symptom is pathognomonic. Furthermore, since many symptoms of depression are commonly reported in other mental and physical health disorders (Malhi et al., 2014; Malhi & Mann, 2018), conclusive diagnosis can be difficult.

While depressive symptomatology can be highly variable, a sex difference in depressive symptom profiles between women and men is frequently found. Specifically, females are

more likely to report fatigue, hypersomnia, suicide attempts, and reduced psychomotor activity. In contrast, men are more likely to report reduced libido and sexual dysfunction (Marcus et al., 2005; Angst et al., 2006; Smith et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2015). Furthermore, completed suicide rates are significantly higher in males than females (Möller-Leimkühler, 2003). Consequently, the existence of such a wide array of depressive symptoms, and the variability of such symptoms across individuals, depressive episodes, time, and sex, potentially alludes to the fact that many divergent mechanisms have been found to contribute to the regulation of one's mood, including the pathogenesis of negative mood states such as depression.

## 1.2 Regulation of Mood

Regulation of mood is a highly complex enterprise. Although our understanding has advanced significantly over the last several decades, a single biological or psychosocial model is not sufficient to explain all features of mood and its regulation. Accordingly, a single model cannot adequately be used to describe the emergence of pathological mood states, such as depression (Malhi & Mann, 2018). Biological, psychological, and social/environmental mechanisms can all differentially contribute to different mood states in different individuals at different times.

A variety of biological mechanisms have been identified as contributing to mood. For example, previous research has found that monoamine neurotransmitter systems, including serotonergic, dopaminergic, and noradrenergic systems, play a large role in the neurobiology of mood (Segal, Kuczenski, & Mandell, 1974; Delgado et al., 1990). The effects of serotonin, or 5-HT, on mood are particularly well known. Specifically, experimental manipulation of 5-HT levels, including use of acute tryptophan depletion to lower brain 5-HT levels, has been found to alter mood and emotional processing (Shopsin et al., 1975; Concu et al., 1977; Young & Leyton, 2002). However, much of what is known regarding the serotonergic regulation of mood comes from antidepressants. Specifically, most currently used antidepressants are either selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) or selective serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) (Cleare et al., 2015). These medications are thought to improve mood by elevating synaptic 5-HT and norepinephrine levels, resulting in increased activation of postsynaptic neurotransmitter receptors (Delgado et al., 1990; Young, 2013). Although monoamines have a well-documented effect on mood, a recent review of the neurobiology of depression found that dysregulation in monoamine neurotransmitter systems alone could not explain the widespread variability in symptoms experienced both across and within patients with depression (Willner, Scheel-Krüger, & Belzung, 2013). Furthermore, given that serotonergic-based antidepressants have been found to have limited efficacy for improving mood and other symptoms in adults with moderate to severe depression (Melander et al., 2008; Hengartner & Plöderl, 2018), it suggests that monoamine neurotransmitter systems only partially contribute to the neurobiology of mood.

Another well-established biological determinant of mood is the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis. The HPA axis is a neuroendocrine regulatory system that consists of cells in the hypothalamus, anterior pituitary gland, and adrenal cortex above the kidney. Stimulation of the HPA axis ultimately results in the release of cortisol into the bloodstream (Watson & Mackin, 2009). In humans and other primates, cortisol is the body's primary stress hormone, and it has been found to have a broad array of effects, encompassing the stress response, sleep-wake cycle, metabolism, immune function, learning, memory, and mood (Miller, 2018). Abnormal function of the HPA axis has been identified in multiple mood disorders, such as bipolar disorder (Daban et al., 2005) and major depression (Keller et al., 2017). For example, elevated levels of basal plasma cortisol are commonly found in many individuals with severe depression (Rubin et al. 1987; Vreeberg et al., 2009). Furthermore, depressed individuals have also been found to display abnormally high secretion of cortisol in response to both psychological (Burke et al., 2005) or chemical stressors (Holsboer, 2000; Young et al., 2003). Such elevations in basal and stress-related cortisol in individuals with depression may be related to disturbances in glucocorticoid (GR) receptor-mediated negative feedback (Malhi & Mann, 2018). However, treatments that target the HPA axis and lower cortisol levels, such as antagonists of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR), have not been found to be effective at improving mood and other symptoms in major depression (Stetler & Miller, 2011). Thus, similar to monoamines, the HPA axis appears to only partially contribute to the neurobiology of mood. In addition to the HPA axis, a variety of other biological systems and processes have been linked to mood regulation, including

particular structures of the nervous system, such as the amygdala (Hamilton et al., 2012); neuroplasticity (Egeland, Zunszain, & Pariante 2015); and neuroinflammation (Bauer & Teixeira, 2021).

While a significant amount of literature exists regarding the neurobiology of mood, psychological, social, and environmental factors also have a role to play in mood regulation (Eckenrode, 1984; Tamir & Mauss, 2011; Malhi & Mann, 2018). For example, stress can have a large effect on mood and can trigger the onset of mood disorders. Specifically, previous research has identified a strong association between stressful life events and depressive affect (Kendler, Karkowski, & Prescott, 1999). Furthermore, social cognitive factors, such as beliefs regarding one's emotion regulation self-efficacy and the ability to control one's emotions, have been found to exert an important role (Tamir & Mauss, 2011). However, similar to the biological determinants of mood, psychological, social, and environmental determinants only partially explain the pathogenesis of negative mood states such as major depression.

Current understanding of mood, and the factors underlying mood regulation remains incomplete. While several factors, such as the monoamine neurotransmitters, have been identified as playing a contributing role, these mechanisms alone cannot explain all aspects of mood, mood regulation, and the pathogenesis of mood disorders. Consequently, further research regarding novel, less explored mechanisms is required to elucidate a greater understanding of mood regulation. The existence of a sex difference in the prevalence and symptomatology of depression, as well as the onset of the sex difference during puberty (Steiner & Young, 2008), suggests a possible role of the neuroendocrine system and sex hormones, such as androgens and estrogens, in the regulation of mood. In support of this, disruptions in hypothalamus-pituitary-gonad (HPG) axis function, a neuroendocrine regulatory system responsible for regulating reproductive function and the release of reproductive hormones, are commonly observed in individuals with major depression (Rupprecht et al., 1988; Schweiger et al., 1999). However, little is known with respect to the specific role of sex hormones such as testosterone (T) in mood regulation or their contribution to depressive affect in particular.

### 1.3 Testosterone

#### 1.3.1 Testosterone the Sex Steroid Hormone

Testosterone (T) is the primary sex hormone in men. It is typically conceptualized as a 'male' hormone, as circulating serum T levels are many times higher in men than women. In men, the Leydig cells in the testes are the primary source of T and other androgens. Besides acting on its own, T may be converted into at least two other steroid hormones, estradiol or dihydrotestosterone (DHT). Synthesis of T is tightly regulated by many factors, including the release of luteinizing hormone (LH) from the pituitary gland as part of the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonad (HPG) axis (Melmed et al., 2016; Aladamat & Tadi, 2021).

In male adults, normal circulating serum T levels range from 300 to 1000 ng/dL (Rey & Josso, 2016). In addition to the serum, T is also found in saliva, where normal levels range from approximately 50 to 300 pg/mL (Clifton et al., 2016; Melmed et al., 2016). Many factors influence the amount of circulating T. For example, T is secreted in a pulsatile pattern of release, with pulses occurring approximately every 90 minutes (Veldhuis et al., 1987). Furthermore, serum T displays a circadian rhythm, whereby serum T levels reach their highest concentrations during the early morning hours, fall to their lowest concentrations in the early-to-mid evening, and remain most stable in the afternoon and early evening (Diver et al., 2003). In addition to a circadian rhythm, average T concentrations display a circannual rhythm (i.e., T production and release follows a cycle which is approximately one-year in length). Specifically, for adult males, T concentrations are highest in autumn months, such as October and November, and lowest in spring months, such as April and May (Moffat & Hampson, 2000; Perry et al., 2000; Svartberg et al., 2003).

When T levels fall below 300 ng/dL in male adults, individuals are usually diagnosed with 'low T' (Mulhall et al., 2018). Hypogonadism, where the testes produce little-to-no T, is the typical cause (Seidman, 2006), although hypogonadism can also be of central origin (e.g. hypogonado-tropic hypogonadism). Low T and hypogonadism are most frequently observed in older adults, as circulating levels of T are age dependent (Amiaz & Seidmen, 2008). At the onset of puberty, T becomes the primary circulating sex hormone in males, and serum T

levels reach their apex during early adulthood (Kelsey et al., 2014). However, HPG axis function declines with age. After reaching their apex, serum T levels marginally decline to the population average by approximately 40 years of age, after which bioavailable T declines by roughly 2% per year of increasing age (Feldman et al., 2002). Consequently, men over age 70 have been found to have serum T levels that are approximately 35% lower than young men, and a significant number of men over the age of 50 have T levels below the criterion of 300 ng/dL and would be considered to have low T (Vermeulen & Kaufman, 1995).

Importantly, individuals with low T often report psychological symptoms, including mild depression, difficulties with sleep, and increased irritability (Morales, Heaton, & Carson, 2000; Zitzmann & Nieschlag, 2001; Zitzmann, 2006). Such psychological symptoms of low T suggest a role for T in the regulation of mood, as described further below.

#### 1.3.2 Testosterone Actions in the CNS

Like all steroids, circulating T can move across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and exert effects on the brain. T has been found to directly affect both the excitability of neurons and the activity of various neurotransmitters (Dubrovsky, 2005; Eser et al., 2006). Specifically, T can bind to intracellular steroid hormone receptors, in particular the androgen receptor (AR; Rupprecht et al., 2001); or can act at ligand-gated ion channels, such as the TRPM8 receptor (Asuthkar et al., 2015). Through its nuclear or membrane-effects, T can also directly modulate the effects of various neurotransmitters, including 5-HT, dopamine, norepinephrine, and GABA, as well as their respective neurotransmitter receptors (Amiaz & Seidman, 2008). In addition to the direct effects of T in the CNS, T can also undergo enzymatic conversion within neurons or glia into either dihydrotestosterone (DHT) or estradiol. The latter conversion from T occurs via the enzyme aromatase, and subsequent binding of estradiol to estrogen receptors. However, only a small fraction of circulating T is thought to act via conversion to estradiol (Longcope, Kato, & Horton, 1969; Lakshman et al., 2010).

Through its wide array of actions in the CNS during early brain development (prenatal or early postnatal period), and again in adulthood, T has been associated in animal studies with

a broad range of neuroanatomical and neurobehavioural effects. However, in humans T has also been implicated as a potential moderating factor in several mood disorders, such as major depression, bipolar depression, and anxiety (Ebinger et al., 2009). Hypothetically, T might be capable of influencing the pathogenesis of these mood disorders through its interaction with serotonergic (Rupprecht & Holsboer, 1999), dopaminergic (Weltzien et al., 2006), and/or noradrenergic (Hernandez-Rauda & Aldegunde, 2002) neurotransmitter systems. For example, electrical recordings of serotonergic neurons in the dorsal raphe nucleus found that administration of T increased the serotonergic neurons' firing rate (Robichaud & Debonnel, 2005). T has also been found to promote the release of dopamine from neurons in the mesolimbic system (Alderson & Baum, 1981; Tobiansky et al., 2018). This system has a well-established role in motivated behaviour and has been found to display abnormal function in depression (Russo & Nestler, 2013). Furthermore, specific metabolites of T may antagonize serotonergic receptors, such as the 5-HT<sub>3</sub> receptor, which has been found to contribute to the pathophysiology of depression (Rupprecht, 2003; Sankar & Hampson, 2012). In addition to the monoamine neurotransmitter systems, T may alternatively influence the pathogenesis of depression or other mood disorders via the HPA axis and cortisol. Previous research has shown that androgens suppress the activity of the HPA axis during the stress response (Viau & Meaney, 1996; Williamson & Viau, 2008), but also that high levels of HPA activity caused by exposure to chronic stress are associated with an inhibition of testosterone production (Cumming et al., 1983; Chen et al., 2012; Kheirabad et al., 2016). However, the specific mechanisms underlying the interactions between T and the monoamine neurotransmitter systems, as well as between T and the HPA axis, and the contribution of such interactions to mood regulation, are not well understood. Such a gap in our understanding exists, in part, because the fundamental relationship between T and different mood states in men remains unclear and poorly mapped out. Thus, further research regarding the precise relationship between T and mood states, including pathological mood states such as depression, is needed (McHenry et al., 2014).

## 1.4 Testosterone and Depressive Affect

#### 1.4.1 Seminal Work in Hypogonadal Men

The potential contribution of T to mood regulation in men was first widely entertained in the early-to-mid 20<sup>th</sup> century based on anecdotal reports of depression and negative mood from hypogonadal men who had low levels of T (McHenry et al., 2014). In addition to symptoms such as increased fat mass and erectile dysfunction, males with hypogonadism frequently report disturbances in mood such as negative affect, exhaustion, and low libido (Morales, Heaton, & Carson, 2000). Accordingly, males with hypogonadism have been found to display significantly higher rates of clinically significant mood disorders, such as MDD, compared to individuals with levels of T within the normal range (Shores et al., 2004; Almeida et al., 2008; Zarrouf et al., 2009). The apparent association between low T and depressive symptoms among hypogonadal men led researchers to begin to systematically explore the relationship of T to pathological mood states.

A large body of literature has emerged regarding the relationship between T and mood. Evidence has been derived primarily from 2 sources: experimental studies and observational studies. Observational studies typically involve measuring circulating T concentrations via saliva or serum sampling, collecting scores from the same participants on a mood or depression measure, such as the BDI-II (Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996), and analyzing the association between the measures using statistical methods such as multiple regression. Conversely, experimental studies typically involve measuring baseline scores on a mood or depression measure, followed by the planned manipulation of participants' T concentrations by using the exogenous administration of T or by using androgen deprivation therapy (with or without a placebo condition as a control), and then observing any resulting changes in scores on the mood or depression measure. Many different populations have been sampled including hypogonadal men, psychiatric in- or out-patients, elderly men, adolescents, and community-based samples (Amiaz & Seidman, 2008). However, despite the large, broad array of literature, current evidence regarding a contribution of T to mood regulation and depression is inconsistent and still inconclusive.

#### 1.4.2 Apparent Inverse Relationship Between Testosterone and Mood

In general, most current literature is suggestive of an inverse relationship between T and negative mood, such that the presence of lower T may increase negative affect and/or increase the risk of experiencing depressive symptoms (Rupprecht, et al., 1988; Barrett-Connor, Von Muhlen, & Kritz-Silverstein, 1999; Almeida, et al., 2004; Shores, et al., 2004; Seidman, Miyazaki, & Roose, 2005; McIntyre et al., 2006; Sankar & Hampson, 2012). Much of the evidence for an inverse relationship comes from hypogonadal men and men over 40 years of age. While clinically hypogonadal men represent a naturally occurring population with low circulating T levels, older men as a group have also been found to have lower circulating T concentrations and to display greater variation in T levels than younger men under age 40 (Kelsey et al., 2014). For example, in community-based samples of middle age and older adult males, researchers have reported a significant inverse correlation between bioavailable T levels and depression severity on the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI; Beck et al., 1961), a widely accepted rating scale used to detect symptoms of depression (Barrett-Connor et al., 1999; Chen et al., 2020). Furthermore, in another community-based study of older men by Morsink et al. (2007), researchers found that men in the lowest T quartile reported significantly more depressive symptoms than men in all other T quartiles. In addition to community samples of older men, several studies of hypogonadal and borderline hypogonadal men have found that these men, who have low circulating T concentrations, exhibit rates of depression and depressive symptoms that are significantly higher than the general population (Rabkin et al., 2000; Shores et al., 2004; Zarrouf et al., 2009; Westley et al., 2015).

The contribution of T to mood regulation has been under-studied in healthy, eugonadal, younger men between ages 18-40 compared to older men. In this population, T levels are at their highest point during the lifespan, and it is possible that such high T levels may exert a 'protective' effect on mood (McHenry et al., 2014). However, several studies in this age range have found evidence indicative of an inverse relationship between T and negative mood. Specifically, in healthy adolescent males, circadian-related declines in salivary T concentrations throughout the day have been associated with concurrent elevations in

depressive and anxious behaviours (Granger et al., 2003). Furthermore, a recent cohort study of healthy adolescents reported an inverse association between T and MDD, as well as between T and MDD without any comorbid anxiety disorders, in males (Kische et al., 2022). Another study of young adult men by Sankar & Hampson (2012) found that lower T concentrations predicted a more severe degree of negative affect among a subgroup of unmedicated men who were experiencing moderate to severe depressive symptoms.

Evidence for an inverse relationship between T and negative mood has also been reported in various patient samples, particularly those diagnosed with MDD. For example, in a study of men with MDD by Giltay et al. (2017), researchers found that both free and total T levels were lower in the MDD patients compared to healthy controls. Furthermore, daytime, nighttime, and 24-hour T secretion have also been found to be significantly lower in male MDD inpatients compared to controls (Rupprecht et al., 1988; Schweiger, et al., 1999). However, it is unclear whether the use of antidepressant medications might account for the lower T levels observed in the MDD samples. Furthermore, in a two-year study that followed a community sample of older men without prior diagnosed MDD, low T levels ( $\leq 2.5$  ng/mL) were associated with a greater prevalence of depression and a shorter time to the onset of depressive symptoms over the assessment period (Shores et al., 2005). Finally, older men with dysthymic disorder, which shares depressed mood as a primary feature with MDD but involves fewer and longer-lasting symptoms, have also been found to have lower total T levels compared to men without depression (Seidman et al., 2002).

In addition to observational research, a few studies involving experimental manipulations of T levels have also produced evidence supporting a contribution of T to mood regulation, including an inverse relationship between T and negative mood. For example, in hypogonadal men, T replacement therapy has been found to improve affect, reduce irritability and fatigue, and alleviate depressive moods (Rabkin et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2006; Snyder et al., 2016). Many of the studies, however, did not include a control group. This is problematic because studies involving T supplementation are often subject to a large placebo effect (Seidman & Roose, 2006). In male patients with prostate cancer, androgen-deprivation therapy is associated with an

increased risk of developing depressive or anxiety disorders compared to prostate cancer patients who do not receive androgen deprivation therapy (DiBlasio et al., 2008). Furthermore, in healthy eugonadal young men, administration of supraphysiological doses of T has been related to increases in mania and aggression (Pope et al., 2000). The finding of an increase in aggression following administration of supraphysiological doses of T has been replicated in at least one other study (Perry et al., 2003). However, in Perry and colleagues' study, alterations in mania were not detected. Conversely, in healthy men, following 1 month of T suppression using leuprolide, the 'T Deficient State' was associated with negative affect, reduced libido, and apathy, and a small portion of the men developed clinically significant depressive symptoms. Furthermore, the clinically significant depressive symptoms were reversed following T replacement (Schmidt et al., 2004). This finding regarding the effect of pharmacologically induced hypogonadism and T restoration in young men has been replicated in at least one other study (Schmidt et al., 2009). Together, findings from these clinical studies converge to suggest an antidepressant effect of T.

To summarize, findings from a wide array of observational and experimental studies across different populations of men are suggestive of an inverse relationship between T and negative mood, such that lower T levels may be associated with depressive affect. However, as is true for many areas of study in psychiatry, discrepancies and conflicting evidence in the literature are not uncommon. Accordingly, studies suggestive of no relationship between T and negative mood will be considered next to provide a balanced perspective. These contradictory studies require consideration when assembling a complete understanding of the present state of the literature pertaining to T and negative affect.

#### 1.4.3 *Conflicting Evidence*

As mentioned, a body of current literature points to an inverse relationship between T and negative mood, and suggests that lower levels of T may be associated with depressive affect (Rupprecht et al., 1988; Barrett-Connor et al., 1999; Almeida et al., 2004; Shores et al., 2004; Seidman, Miyazaki, & Roose, 2005; McIntyre et al., 2006; Sankar & Hampson, 2012). However, many other researchers have disputed the existence of any relationship between T and negative mood. Across several observational and experimental studies in different participant populations, some researchers have failed to find evidence of an association between low T and depressive affect (Levitt & Joffe, 1988; Rubin et al., 1989; Davies et al., 1992; Feldman et al., 2002; Gray et al., 2005). Here too, most of the refutational evidence is derived from studies of hypogonadal men and men over 40 years of age. For example, using data from the Massachusetts Male Aging Study (MMAS), a large community-based sample of middle aged and older men, researchers failed to find an association between serum T levels and the *Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depression* (CES-D) depression severity score (Feldman et al., 2002). Furthermore, in a study of older men by T'Sjoen et al., (2005), no correlation was found between T levels and scores on the *Geriatric Depression Scale* (GDS). Refutational evidence has also been obtained from experimental studies. Specifically, in several clinical trials of testosterone-replacement therapy, researchers have failed to find evidence for an antidepressant or mood-elevating effect of T in either hypogonadal men (Steidle, 2003) or men diagnosed with MDD (Seidman et al., 2005). Furthermore, in a study of healthy eugonadal young men, administration of exogenous T produced no change in hostility, anger, or mood (Tricker et al., 1996).

In general, although most research demonstrates an inverse relationship between T and depressive affect, a noteworthy amount of contradictory evidence exists. Such discrepancies in the literature may arise for a variety of different reasons, including methodological considerations. Specifically, discrepancies may reflect the frequent reliance on small sample sizes, particularly in experimental studies involving the exogenous administration of T (e.g., Tricker et al., 1996). Furthermore, discrepancies may also reflect the use of widely different scales across studies to assess negative mood and depressive symptoms, including scales that measure general mood and well-being rather than depressive symptoms in different samples may contribute to some of the variance in the literature. The relatively common failure to account for circadian, circannual, and age-related variability in T production may also account for some notable discrepancies across different studies. Finally, a failure to examine the relationship between T and other neuroendocrine correlates of mood, such as cortisol, which is anomalous in a subset of individuals with mood disorders (Lopez-Duran, Kovacs, & George, 2009), may also result in inconsistencies. Specifically, there is an inverse

relationship between circulating cortisol and T levels (Bambino & Hsueh, 1981; Cumming et al., 1983). Under chronic levels of stress, the high concentrations of circulating cortisol have been found to promote apoptosis of the Leydig cells, which ultimately results in suppressed levels of T (Chen et al., 2012; Kheirabad et al., 2016). This mechanism is thought to decrease the chances of reproduction under adverse conditions in the environment. Consequently, it is possible that circulating levels of cortisol, which are not typically analyzed concurrently with T, may underlie the observed relationship between T and depressive affect (Hirokawa et al., 2016; Ludwig, Roy, & Dwivedi, 2019).

In addition to methodological considerations, inconsistencies regarding the relationship between T and depressive affect may potentially arise due to the existence of a more complex, non-linear relationship between T and depressive affect. Several studies have suggested that the relationship between T and negative mood might, in fact, be curvilinear rather than linear. In a study by Booth, Johnson, & Granger (1999), researchers found that, in those with below average T levels, the relationship between T and depressive affect was negative, but in those with above average T levels, the relationship between T and depressive affect was positive. They suggested that T might have a positive effect on mood in general, but at high levels, T may be associated with behaviours that constitute risk factors for depression. Similarly, in a more recent study, researchers also observed a quadratic relationship between bioavailable T levels and BDI scores, such that the risk of depressive affect was greater in men with low and high T levels. However, they found this quadratic relationship existed only in underweight and obese men, and not in men with 'normal' bodyweights, in which they observed an inverse, linear relationship between T and depressive affect (Kratzik et al., 2007). Consequently, if the relation between T and depressive affect is, in fact, curvilinear in nature rather than linear, and this is not accounted for or examined in statistical analyses, it could potentially produce some of the refutational, inconsistent findings observed in the literature.

In summary, while much research is demonstrative of an inverse relationship between T and depressive affect, little work exists regarding this relationship in eugonadal *young* men, and several inconsistencies are also seen in the current literature. Such inconsistencies may exist

for several reasons, including failures to account for the relationship between T and other neural correlates of mood such as cortisol. However, if a relationship between T and depressive affect does exist, it is also possible that T's contribution to depressive affect may be influenced by moderators such as genetic variation in the receptors through which it mediates its effects. Consequently, an understanding of the relationship between T and depressive affect requires consideration of the androgen receptor (AR), T's primary bodily target (Davey & Grossmann, 2016).

### 1.5 Androgen Receptor

#### 1.5.1 Androgen Receptor Structure and Function

The actions of testosterone (T) and its metabolites, such as dihydrotestosterone (DHT), are achieved via the binding to androgen-specific steroid hormone receptors, which are expressed in a diverse array of tissues throughout the body, including the brain (Zitzmann & Nieschlag, 2003; McHenry et al., 2014). T and its metabolites are hydrophobic, lipid-soluble molecules and can diffuse passively across the cell membrane and interact with intracellular steroid receptors (Wierman, 2007). Therefore, upon reaching its target site, T may not only bind to membrane-bound androgen-specific receptors, but it can also diffuse across the cell membrane and bind to intracellular androgen-specific steroid hormone receptors. The latter is considered its classical mode of action. Consequently, T may exert its effect via rapid non-genomic processes, such as altering signaling pathways or cell membrane excitability, which can occur within seconds or minutes of receptor binding (Falkenstein et al., 2000). However, T typically exerts its effect through slower, genomic processes, such as activating or inhibiting the expression of certain target genes, via intracellular nuclear receptors (Rupprecht et al., 2001; McHenry et al., 2014).

The effects of T, as well as its metabolite DHT, are primarily mediated by the androgen receptor (AR). The AR is a ligand-dependent transcription factor, which are proteins involved in initiating and regulating the transcription of DNA to RNA. It is classified as a member of the steroid hormone nuclear receptor superfamily, which also includes receptors specific to other steroids (e.g., estrogen, thyroid, or adrenal hormones) (Quigley et al., 1995;

Davey & Grossmann, 2016). The AR is a homodimer receptor protein (Zitzmann & Nieschlag, 2003; McHenry et al., 2014), as upon binding T, two AR bind together to form a protein complex called a dimer to attach to DNA and regulate transcription. When T diffuses across the cell membrane, it binds to an unbound AR in the cell's cytosol. This binding triggers a conformational change in the AR, leading to the release of chaperone proteins and translocation of the T-AR complex to the nucleus. The T-AR complex then dimerizes with another T-AR complex, and the homodimer receptor protein binds to specific genomic DNA sequences. These sequences are known as "androgen-response elements", and are located in the promoter region of androgen-dependent target genes. Consequently, the binding of the T-AR dimer to genomic androgen-response elements leads to the activation or inhibition of the expression of specific proteins (Choong & Wilson, 1998). Accordingly, circulating T serves as a key molecule in the regulation of the transcription of many androgen-dependent proteins throughout the lifespan (Zitzmann & Nieschlag, 2003).

The gene for AR is found on the X chromosome at Xq11-12 (Brown et al., 1989). It is encoded by 8 exons (Lubahn et al., 1988). As a member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily, the AR has 3 primary functional domains: the ligand-binding domain close to the C-terminus of the protein; the DNA-binding domain in the central region of the protein; and a variable transactivation domain (TAD) close to the N-terminus (Mangelsdorf et al., 1995). The ligand-binding domain is responsible for binding to T and its metabolite DHT, and displays very strong affinity for androgens (Tan et al., 2015). The DNA-binding domain mediates the binding of the AR to the promoter regions of androgen-regulated genes and is very conserved among members of the steroid hormone nuclear receptor superfamily. Conversely, the TAD is the most variable domain of the receptor protein and regulates the transcription of androgen-regulated genes (MacLean, Warne, & Zajac, 1997).

The AR is expressed in many cells and tissues throughout the human body (Davey & Grossmann, 2016). Consequently, AR has been found to exert important functions in a variety of bodily systems including the reproductive (Chang et al., 2013), musculoskeletal (Zajac & Fui, 2012), immune (Lai et al., 2012), cardiovascular (Ikeda et al., 2005), and nervous systems (Mhaouty-Kodja, 2018). In the human central nervous system (CNS), AR

activity has been observed in cells in the amygdala (DonCarlos et al., 2006); cerebellum (Perez-Pouchoulen et al., 2016); hippocampus (DonCarlos et al., 2003); mesocorticolimbic system (Aubele & Kritzer, 2012); and the prefrontal cortex (Finley & Kritzer, 1999). Expression of the AR is particularly high in the hippocampus and amygdala (Ebinger et al., 2009). Accordingly, AR has been found to play an important role in learning and memory (Edinger & Frye, 2004). The AR has also been suggested to contribute to the expression of sexual and aggressive behaviours (Scordalakes & Rissman, 2004; Marie-Luce et al., 2013). Mutations and polymorphisms in AR's sequence have been correlated with a number of medical conditions, such as complete androgen insensitivity syndrome (CAIS; Quigley et al., 1995) and prostate cancer (Denis & Griffiths, 2000). However, given the expression of AR in several brain regions implicated in mood regulation and the pathogenesis of depression, recent research has also begun to suggest that a genetic polymorphism in AR may contribute to depressive affect and negative mood in men (Härkönen et al., 2003; Sankar & Hampson, 2012; Hung et al., 2019).

#### 1.5.2 Major Androgen Receptor Polymorphisms

A polymorphism is a location in the genome where at least two different sequences, also known as alleles, are found in the same population. Different types of polymorphisms can occur, but the most common polymorphism seen in the genetic sequences of sex steroid hormone receptors, such as AR, are called short tandem repeats (STRs). STRs are short genetic sequences, typically 3 nucleotide bases in length, which are repeated over a variable stretch of a gene. For example, the CAG trinucleotide repeat is a common STR polymorphism, which may be repeated 8 times in one individual and 32 times in another individual (Maney, 2017). STR's typically arise due to errors during the DNA replication process (Ellegren, 2004).

The genetic sequence of the AR's DNA- and ligand-binding domains have been strongly conserved throughout evolution. However, the highly variable N-terminus transactivation domain (TAD) of the AR has been found to contain two major trinucleotide STR polymorphisms which can alter the AR's regulation of the expression of androgen-responsive genes, and consequently, may contribute to the pathophysiology of different medical

conditions (Choong & Wilson, 1998; Zajac & Fui, 2012). The first major trinucleotide STR polymorphism is the (CAG)<sub>n</sub>CAA, or polyglutamine, repeat. This repeat is referred to as the CAG repeat. The second major trinucleotide STR polymorphism in AR is the (GGT)<sub>3</sub>GGG(GGT)<sub>2</sub>(GGC)<sub>n</sub>, or polyglycine, repeat (the GGN repeat; Jiang et al., 2016). The last nucleotide base is referred to as 'N', as the GGT and GGC nucleotide triplets code for the same amino acid, glycine. Both trinucleotide repeat polymorphisms are located in the first exon of the AR gene (Davey & Grossmann, 2016).

The precise number of CAG and GGN repeats in the AR gene varies naturally across the male population. Consequently, variability in the length of these two repeat polymorphisms has been associated with differences in the transcriptional activity and expression of the AR (Choong et al., 1996; Irvine et al., 2000). Limited research exists regarding the GGN repeat polymorphism, or how variability in GGN repeat length may influence the properties of the AR. Most research on the GGN repeat polymorphism concerns its relationship to prostate cancer risk (Correa-Cerro et al., 1999; Hsing et al., 2000). In contrast, a sizable amount of research exists regarding the CAG repeat polymorphism, including the influence of variable CAG repeat length on AR function and expression (Choong et al., 1996; Ding et al., 2004), and, most importantly, the contribution of the CAG repeat polymorphism to mood regulation, including depressive affect and negative mood (Seidman et al., 2001; Colangelo, et al., 2007; Sankar & Hampson, 2012; Hirtz et al., 2021).

#### 1.5.3 Polyglutamine (CAG) Repeat Polymorphism

The CAG trinucleotide STR polymorphism is located in the transactivation domain on exon 1 of the AR gene (Choong & Wilson, 1998). The CAG polymorphism encodes a polyglutamine segment, the most common amino acid in the human body, in the overall AR protein (Davey & Grossmann, 2016). The fewer the number of CAG repeats in the AR gene, the smaller the polyglutamine region of the AR protein. Conversely, the larger the number of CAG repeats in the AR gene, the larger the polyglutamine region of the AR protein. Across the male population, the number of CAG repeats in the AR polyglutamine segment has been found to range from 8 to 37, with an average repeat length of approximately 20-22 (Edwards et al., 1992; Vermeersch et al., 2010). Mean CAG repeat length has been reported in a few

studies to show ethnic variation (e.g., Edwards et al., 1992; Platz et al., 2000), although the differences reported are small.

Differences in the CAG repeat length (CAG-RL) of the AR gene have been associated with alterations in the transactivational activity and expression of the AR (Zitzmann & Nieschlag, 2003). In the context of the AR's role in regulating the expression of androgen-responsive genes, transactivation activity refers to the rate of gene expression that is initiated through T binding to AR (Lindzey et al., 1994). The transactivation activity of AR has been found to be inversely related to the CAG-RL both *in vitro* (Irvine et al., 2000) and *in vivo* (Gao et al., 1996). Specifically, the shorter the CAG-RL, the stronger the bond between T and AR, and the greater AR's transactivational activity. Conversely, the longer the CAG-RL, the weaker the bond between T and AR, and the poorer AR's transactivational activity (Choong et al., 1996). So, with shorter CAG-RLs, T has a stronger effect on the transcription of androgen-responsive genes, whereas with longer CAG-RLs, T has a weaker effect. The inverse relationship between CAG-RL and AR transactivational activity is likely related to differential strengths in the bond between the AR polyglutamine segment and important coactivator proteins, depending on CAG-RL (Irvine et al., 2000).

In addition to the effect of CAG-RL on transactivational activity, the degree of expression of the AR has also been found to be inversely related to CAG-RL. Shorter CAG-RLs are associated with increased AR mRNA and protein expression, whereas longer CAG-RLs are associated with reduced AR mRNA and protein expression (Choong et al., 1996). However, while the size of the CAG-RL in the AR gene has been found to show an inverse association with the transactivation activity and expression of the AR, literature typically fails to find an association between CAG-RL and circulating T levels. Importantly, this indicates that bioavailable T concentrations do not homeostatically compensate for having a longer or shorter CAG-RL, as might be predicted (Van Pottelbergh et al., 2001; Härkönen et al., 2003; Sankar & Hampson, 2012; Ryan et al., 2017; Hirtz et al., 2021).

Although the contribution of CAG-RL to AR functioning and physiology in the central nervous system (CNS) is not as well characterized as peripheral sites such as the testes and prostate gland (Hirtz et al., 2021), due to the high expression of AR in neurons of the

hippocampus, amygdala, and prefrontal cortex (Ebinger et al., 2009) we might expect AR CAG-RL to be associated with important neurological and psychological effects. Although evidence is still limited, within the typical range of CAG repeats (8-37), research has found evidence of a relationship between CAG-RL and cognition (Yaffe et al., 2003), competitiveness (Eisenegger et al., 2017), and the personality traits extraversion and neuroticism (Westberg et al., 2009). Within the normal scope of CAG repeats observed in the male population, the CAG-RL of the AR is beginning to be studied in mood regulation, including the expression of depressive affect in both adult (Seidman et al., 2001; Härkönen et al., 2003; Colangelo et al., 2007) and adolescent males (Vermeersch et al., 2010; Hirtz et al., 2021). Unfortunately, current literature is quite limited. Preliminary findings are suggestive of a relationship between circulating T levels, CAG-RL, and depressive affect. However, inconsistencies, caveats, and limitations are not uncommon in this literature.

## 1.6 Testosterone Activity and Depressive Affect

The contribution of T to depressive affect and negative mood in men may be influenced by many moderating variables, including genetic polymorphism in AR due to individual differences in the number of CAG repeats (CAG-RL). Since current literature on testosterone itself suggests an inverse relationship between T availability in the bloodstream and depressive affect, we might predict that men with longer CAG-RL are at an increased risk of experiencing depressive affect. However, research regarding the relation between circulating T, CAG-RL, and depressive affect in men is limited, especially in eugonadal young men. The limited past research supports some sort of association between circulating T, CAG-RL, and depressive affect (Seidman et al., 2001; Colangelo et al., 2007; Vermeersch et al., 2010; Sankar & Hampson, 2012). However, literature remains mixed, as several studies have found evidence suggestive of either: (1) no relationship between circulating T and CAG-RL (defined hereafter as 'T activity') and depressive affect, or (2) a complex association between circulating T and CAG-RL or particular depressive affect, or symptom severity.

Most of the limited literature regarding T activity and depressive affect is based on olderaged men. In a study of 213 men between ages 41 and 70, a positive association was found

between CAG-RL and depressive symptom severity, including depressive affect, suicidal ideation, and poor general well-being (Härkönen et al., 2003). Furthermore, researchers have also found evidence of a positive correlation between CAG-RL and Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9; Spitzer, Kroenke, & Williams, 1999) depression scores in psychiatric outpatients and andro-logic patients over age 50 (Schneider et al., 2011). As mentioned in Section 1.4.3, a study by Feldman et al. (2002) failed to find any association between circulating T levels and depression scores based on the *Center for Epidemiological* Studies-Depression Scale (CES-D) in older men participating in the Massachusetts Male Aging Study (MMAS). However, Seidman et al. (2001) analyzed the same MMAS dataset and included individuals' AR CAG-RL as a covariate. In a logistic regression, while the individual T and CAG-RL terms both failed to predict CES-D-diagnosed depression, the interaction term between T and CAG-RL emerged as a significant predictor of CES-Ddiagnosed depression. Specifically, depression was inversely associated with circulating T levels in older men with shorter CAG-RLs, but not in older men with average or long CAG-RLs (Seidman et al., 2001). However, negative findings suggestive of no association between T activity and depressive affect in older men have also been reported (T'Sjoen et al., 2005; Schneider et al., 2013).

In young men little research on the association between T activity and depressive affect currently exists. However, the few studies that have been conducted have found evidence that circulating T concentrations may not be associated with depressive affect in all men, but only in those falling into particular AR CAG-RL subcategories. For example, using longitudinal data from young black and white men under age 40 that participated in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Male Hormone Study, Colangelo et al. (2007) found a significant interaction between circulating T and CAG-RL on CES-D-diagnosed depression. A significant association was found between circulating T and depressive symptoms among young men with shorter CAG-RL, but not in those with average or longer CAG-RLs (cf. Seidman et al., 2001). Opposite to the above findings, in a more recent study of adolescent males, Vermeersch et al. (2010) reported an inverse association between free T and depressive symptoms in males with longer CAG-RLs, but not in those with short CAG-RLs.

The relationships observed between T activity and depressive affect might also depend upon the severity of depression. Specifically, in a recent study of adolescents with mild-tomoderate depressive symptoms, researchers found an inverse relationship between free T and BDI-II score in individuals with short CAG-RLs (< 19 repeats), a positive relationship between free T and BDI-II score in individuals with long CAG-RLs (> 28 repeats), and no relationship between free T and BDI-II score in individuals who had moderate CAG-RLs (Hirtz et al., 2021). Finally, in previous study of young males (ages 17-27) conducted in our laboratory (Sankar & Hampson, 2012), lower bioavailable T concentrations and shorter CAG-RL predicted more severe sleep symptoms of depression across the entire sample, which included both depressed and non-depressed men. However, in participants reporting moderate-to-severe depressive symptoms on the CES-D and PHQ-9, two standardized measures of depressive symptom severity, lower T concentrations and longer CAG-RL both predicted more severe depressive affect. Sankar and Hampson's findings not only suggest that the relationship between T activity and depressive affect might depend on depressive symptom severity, but also that CAG-RL might differentially contribute to different symptoms of depression. However, like other studies that currently exist, Sankar and Hampson did not investigate the possible contribution of other neuroendocrine correlates of mood, such as cortisol, and whether such correlates might contribute to the relationship between T activity and depressive affect. Furthermore, no studies have attempted to replicate Sankar and Hampson's sleep finding, and there has been little subsequent research since 2012 with respect to the hypothesized relationship between T concentration and depressive affect in young men.

In summary, the relation between T, AR CAG length, and depressive affect remains inconclusive (Tirabassi et al., 2015). Furthermore, several studies have suggested that a relationship between T activity and depressive affect may not be present across all men, but rather only in specific subgroups such as those with extreme AR CAG-RLs. The association between T activity and depressive affect may also depend on the severity of depressive affect. However, in general, there has been little work investigating the role of T activity in mood regulation, especially in young men (Sankar & Hampson, 2012). Consequently, further

research regarding the precise relationships between circulating T, AR CAG-RL, and depressive affect in healthy young men is needed.

### 1.7 Gaps in the Literature

The literature described in Section 1.4.2 and 1.6 is suggestive of a possible contribution of T to mood regulation, including the pathogenesis of negative mood states like depression. However, the current body of research is limited, especially for eugonadal young men, who report higher rates of depression than the general population (Ibrahim et al., 2013; Ettman et al., 2020) and whose T levels are at their highest point during the lifespan (McHenry et al., 2014). Furthermore, notable inconsistencies exist in the research literature, which may arise due to failures to appropriately account for T-related sources of variability, such as T's circadian and circannual rhythms which are well-established (Moffat & Hampson, 2000; Diver et al., 2003; Svartberg et al., 2003) and may influence the quality of the T measurements. The existing literature has not yet addressed whether the adrenal steroid cortisol may contribute to the variations in study findings, even though cortisol has been implicated in depression and found to have an inverse relationship with circulating T levels (Bambino & Hsueh, 1981; Cumming et al., 1983; Kheirabad et al., 2016). Most past studies have looked only for linear associations with T levels, but have not entertained the existence of a more complex non-linear or conditional relationship between T and depressive affect (Amiaz & Seidman, 2008). Hence, the true nature of the relationship between T activity and depressive affect in young men remains elusive.

The current thesis aimed to expand our theoretical knowledge regarding the importance of T activity in mood regulation by investigating the following questions in a sample of physically healthy young men: (1) What is the statistical relationship between bioavailable T levels, AR CAG-RL, and depressive affect in young men, (2) Are longer AR CAG-RLs associated with increased depressive affect in young men, and (3) What is the statistical relationship between bioavailable basal cortisol levels and depressive affect in young men? The following specific hypotheses were tested: (1) Greater depressive affect would be associated with lower bioavailable T concentration and/or longer AR CAG-RL, (2) Longer AR CAG-RLs would be associated with greater self-reported depressive symptoms, and (3) Depressive affect would

be associated with higher mean cortisol, but cortisol would not mediate associations between T levels and depressive affect.

## Chapter 2

## 2 Methods

### 2.1 Participants

Two hundred and eighteen participants were enrolled to participate in a study of attachment behaviour and T performed from 2011 to 2015 (Sankar & Hampson, unpublished data). The present study involved the statistical analysis of testosterone variables that were collected as part of the archival dataset. All participants were physical healthy heterosexual men, ranging in age from 18-35 years old (M = 20.70, SD = 2.98). Participants were recruited from the University of Western Ontario via poster advertisements placed around the university campus (see Appendix A for a copy of the poster). Participants were also recruited through the PSYCHOL 1000 Research Participation Pool using the SONA portal. The Research Participation Pool is an online platform that lists dozens of ongoing research studies by the Department of Psychology, which are currently seeking participants. Individuals recruited through poster advertisements received monetary compensation (\$15 CAD) for their participation. Individuals recruited through the Research Participation Pool received one research credit for their participation.

The sample that was included in the final statistical analyses consisted almost entirely of undergraduate students. While university samples can be expected to differ from the general population in several key areas (e.g. SES, IQ), university samples are commonly used in research regarding depression (e.g. Sankar & Hampson, 2012; Beiter et al., 2015; Cooper et al., 2020). Furthermore, rates of self-reported depression are typically found to be greater in university student samples compared to the general population (Garlow et al., 2008; Ibrahim et al., 2013). Consequently, a sample of male university students was deemed as both acceptable and desirable to assess the associations between testosterone (T) activity and depressive affect in young men.

Eligibility for the study required that participants meet several inclusionary criteria. First, participants were required to be between ages 18-35. This range of ages was chosen based on an attachment variable of interest that was assessed as part of the broader purpose of the
study (Sankar, 2015), but not included in the current analyses. However, the restriction of participants to this age range was desirable in the context of the current study for several reasons. Male total T levels peak at approximately 19 years of age and decline slightly to the population average by approximately 40 years of age (Kelsey et al., 2014). After age 40, variation in total testosterone levels becomes significantly greater with advancing age compared to individuals under age 40 (2014). In addition to exhibiting increased variation, both the serum total T concentration and bioavailable T concentration (consisting of free T and albumin-bound T) also decrease with advancing age in men (Vermeulen, Rubens, & Verdonck, 1972; Harman et al., 2001). The age-related decline in bioavailable T is especially profound, as cross-sectional research with a sample of men between ages 40-70 found that bioavailable T declines at a rate of 2% per year of age, whereas total T declines at a rate of only 0.8% per year of age (Feldman et al., 2002). This age-related decline is associated with a variety of factors, including age-related increases in serum sex-hormone binding globulin (SHBG), social and behavioural factors such as nutritional deficiencies, and onset of chronic illnesses associated with aging such as cancer. Consequently, young men between ages 18-35 represented a pristine sample for investigating individual differences in T concentrations, and their associations with mood.

Saliva was used to quantify T in the present study because it affords a direct measurement of the bioavailable component of circulating T (Pardridge & Demers, 1991; Keevil et al., 2014). Only the bioavailable fraction is able to interact with tissues in the body, whereas SHBG-bound T is considered inert and inactive. To ensure the saliva specimens reflected participants' normal, endogenous T levels, individuals that reported any history of endocrine pathology were excluded. Several commonly used medications may have significant effects on the endocrine and/or reproductive systems, causing disturbances in T levels (Smith, 1982; Ilgin, 2020). Accordingly, 2 questions were included on the Health and Demographics questionnaire administered to all participants (see Section 2.2 for questionnaire description) to assess if participants either had a medical condition that could alter their T metabolism or were currently using any prescription or non-prescription medications (e.g. selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors; Hansen et al., 2017) known to disturb T levels. Participants

whose responses indicated a potentially problematic medical condition and/or medication use were excluded from the statistical analyses.

## 2.2 Study Design

The present study was part of a larger investigation that assessed (i) the role of attachment in male mating and reproductive strategies; and (ii) the relation of testosterone (T) to individual differences in attachment style (Sankar, 2015). Participants were scheduled to attend a single one-hour test session at the Laboratory of Neuroendocrinology on the university campus. Test sessions were individual-based and took place in a quiet testing room, in which the biological specimens were collected and paper-and-pencil questionnaires were completed. To control for T's well-established circadian rhythm (Gall, Glowania, & Fischer, 1979; Gupta, Lindemulder, & Sathyan, 2000), all sessions were held between 1300 and 1800 hrs. Specifically, serum and salivary T levels achieve maximal concentrations in the early morning, fall to minimal concentrations in the early-to-mid evening, and remain most stable between the afternoon and early evening hours (Diver et al., 2003). Accordingly, T sampling during the afternoon and early evening is recommended for studies interested in assessing individual differences in T uncontaminated by time-of-day variations (Yang et al., 2007).

Upon arrival to the laboratory, participants provided written informed consent. Participants then collected a salivary DNA sample, according to the procedure outlined in Section 2.3.2. While blood samples are recognized as the gold standard for DNA genotyping, saliva has been found to be a reliable and adequate source of DNA (Hu et al., 2012), and produces a greater DNA yield than cheek swabs (Rogers et al., 2007). DNA samples were subjected to genotyping to characterize each participant's CAG repeat length in their AR gene, using the procedures described in Section 2.3.2. Participants then collected 2 saliva specimens for the measurement of bioavailable T and basal cortisol levels, according to the procedure outlined in Section 2.3.3. One specimen was collected at the beginning of the one-hour test session immediately after the DNA sample was obtained, and the second specimen was collected at the end of the test session. Two specimens were collected at each end of the test session to be averaged, as the release of T in men is pulsatile, with a burst approximately every 90 minutes (Veldhuis et al., 1987). The two saliva specimens were each subjected independently to

immunoassays (using the procedures described in Section 2.3.3 and 2.3.4 below) to produce two single-timepoint T concentrations and two single-timepoint basal cortisol concentration values, each based on duplicate measurements from the same vials. These two timepoints were then averaged for greater reliability to produce a mean T and mean cortisol concentration representing each participant. T measurement for each participant was limited to a single randomly chosen day. However, research has found a strong correlation (r = .85) between single timepoint measurements of T and the mean of several samples subsequently taken over the span of one year (Vermeulen & Verdonck, 1992) as well as over the span of several years (Mazur & Michalek, 1998), providing proper controls over the sampling methods are used.

Besides the biological samples, participants also completed a set of self-report paper-pencil questionnaires during the test session. These included a standardized self-report measure of mood, the *Profile of Mood States* (POMS; McNair et al., 2003). This mood scale served as the primary measure of interest in the current thesis (see Section 2.3.1 for a detailed description of the mood scale).

In addition, all participants completed a paper-pencil health and demographics (H&D) questionnaire during the test session (shown in Appendix B). The H&D questionnaire was given at the beginning of the test session, as participants collected their first saliva specimen. The H&D questionnaire contained items regarding personal health and environmental factors that could potentially affect measured levels of T and/or mood, such as history of endocrine pathology, current prescription and non-prescription medication use, usual sleep-wake time, height and weight (to calculate body mass index, BMI), recent illness or recent stressors, and cigarette and alcohol use. Given that some past research has found CAG repeat length to differ according to ethnicity, one questionnaire item asked participants to self-report their ethnic background. Questionnaire items also assessed demographic variables such as first language, level of education, and occupation. Finally, the questionnaire contained a series of questions that were related to variables, such as attachment patterns, that were assessed simultaneously as part of the broader study, but were not of interest to the current study and its statistical analyses (Sankar, 2015).

#### 2.3 Measures

#### 2.3.1 *Profile of Mood States (POMS)*

To quantify individual differences in mood status, participants completed a self-report mood inventory that inquired about their recent mood states over the past two weeks, including the extent to which they had experienced symptoms of depressive affect. A two-week timeframe was chosen because a two-week period is considered relevant when evaluating depression for clinical purposes (Kroenke, Spitzer, & Williams, 2001; APA, 2013). A substantial body of research has demonstrated that self-report measures of depressive symptoms, such the *Profile of Mood States* or the *Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomology-Self-Report* (QIDS-SR; Rush et al., 2003), have acceptable validity and reliability across a variety of populations (APA, 2019). For scales assessing depressive symptoms, the correlation between detection of depression based on self-report measures and clinician-rated scales is moderate-to-strong, providing well-established questionnaires are used (Tondo et al., 1988; Rush et al., 2006). Consequently, although discrepancies between self-report measures and structured interview formats and/or clinician-rated measures can arise (Cameron et al., 2011), literature currently supports the use of self-report measures to assess depressive affect.

In the current study, the *Profile of Mood States* (POMS; McNair et al., 2003) was administered to assess recent mood, including depressive affect. The POMS has been found to be an effective measure that retains its factor analytic structure in a diverse range of different subject samples, such as college students (Nyenhuis et al., 1999) and psychiatric outpatients (Lorr, McNair, & Weinstein, 1963), and in many different research settings, such as in drug development (McNair et al., 1965) or psychotherapy studies (Lorr et al., 1961). It is comprised of 65 mood-related adjectives. Individuals were asked to rate the extent to which each adjective described their typical mood within the past 2 weeks (including the date of assessment) on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 0 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). Example items included: "Miserable", "Peeved", "Carefree", and "Restless". Responses are summed to produce separate scores on six subscales, which have been empirically derived via factor analysis: Depression-Dejection (D), Tension-Anxiety (T), Anger-Hostility (A), Fatigue-Inertia (F), Vigour-Activity (V), and Confusion-Bewilderment (C) (McNair & Lorr,

1964; Lorr, McNair, & Weinstein, 1963; Boyle, 1987). A Total Mood Disturbance (TMD) score can also be calculated by summing individual scores on each of the 6 subscales but weighing the Vigour-Activity factor negatively. In normative samples of adult male outpatients, the POMS subscales have been found to show high internal consistency, including .95 for the Depression-Dejection factor (McNair, Lorr, & Droppleman, 1992). Similar to previous findings, in the current study Cronbach's alpha values for the POMS subscales ranged from .71 to .92, including  $\alpha = .92$  for the Depression-Dejection component (see Table 1, below). Previous research has identified high test-retest reliability for scores on each of the 6 POMS subscales (McNair, Lorr, & Droppleman, 1992; Gibson, 1997).

While scores on each of the 6 subscales were calculated for each participant, the POMS Depression-Dejection factor (POMS-D) served as the primary factor of interest. The POMS-D is defined by items that assess depressive affect and feelings of personal inadequacy, such as "Sad", "Miserable", "Helpless", "Unworthy", "Hopeless", "Guilty", and "Lonely" (McNair et al., 2003). Across factor analytic studies of the POMS, the factor structure of the POMS-D has been consistently replicated (Boyle, 1987; Bourgeois, LeUnes, & Meyers, 2010). While the POMS was designed to assess typical mood states more broadly in respondents, many studies have utilized the POMS-D specifically to measure depressive mood, as well as changes in depressive mood following a given treatment (Szaflarski et al., 2003; Szaflarski & Szaflarski, 2004). The POMS-D score exhibits a strong correlation ( $r \ge$ .75) with the Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II; Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996), a widely validated scale that is commonly used to measure the severity of depressive symptoms (Griffith et al., 2005). Furthermore, in individuals with HIV infection, the POMS-D has been found to perform similarly to the BDI and display a high degree of accuracy for identifying non-depressed patients and MDD-diagnosed patients according to the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV (Patterson et al., 2006). Consequently, the POMS-D can be considered an appropriate measure of depressive affect.

#### Table 1.

POMS Subscale	Cronbach's α
Depression-Dejection (D)	.92
Anger-Hostility (A)	.90
Tension-Anxiety (T)	.86
Fatigue-Inertia (F)	.85
Vigour-Activity (V)	.79
Confusion-Bewilderment (C)	.71

Reliability of the Profile of Mood States (POMS) Subscales in the Present Dataset.

Although several revised versions of the POMS have been developed since its inception, current literature does not indicate any significant differences in internal consistency or effect size between the original POMS and its later revised versions (McNair et al., 2003). Furthermore, use of the original, 65-item POMS in the present study allowed for an in-depth analysis of the Depression-Dejection factor (POMS-D), the primary factor of interest. For these reasons, the original 65-item POMS was used, and was deemed a satisfactory means to quantify mood, including depressive affect, for the current thesis.

#### 2.3.2 AR Genotyping

Participants were instructed in advance not to eat, drink liquids other than plain water, chew gum, brush their teeth, or smoke for at least 30 minutes before their test session to minimize impurities in the saliva specimens. Prior to collection of the first saliva sample, participants rinsed their mouths using plain water. Participants then used a sterile OG Oragene-DNA tube (DNA Genotek Inc., Ottawa, Ontario, Canada) to collect approximately 2 mL of saliva. After

collection was completed, 2 mL of Oragene DNA stabilizing solution was mixed into the saliva sample by the researchers. The samples were then stored at room temperature until analysis.

Salivary DNA is predominantly derived from buccal epithelial cells and white blood cells, the latter of which is a good source of genomic DNA (Thiede et al., 2000). While bacterial DNA is found alongside human DNA in saliva specimens, saliva specimens collected with the Oragene-DNA collection kit contain significantly less bacterial DNA compared to saliva obtained from mouthwash or cytobrush methods of collection (James, Iwasiow, & Birnboim, 2011). The median DNA yield from a 2 mL saliva sample with an Oragene kit is 110  $\mu$ g, and previous research suggests that saliva collection with an Oragene kit produces a greater quantity and quality of DNA than buccal swab or cytobrush methods (Rogers et al., 2007).

Genotyping of the CAG repeat polymorphism in the AR was performed at The Center for Applied Genomics at The Hospital for Sick Children in Toronto (Ontario, Canada), using previously established methods (e.g., Sankar & Hampson, 2012). Specifically, 50 ng of genomic DNA was isolated from each saliva sample. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) utilizing one unlabeled primer (5'- GAAGGTTGCTGTTCCTCATC-3') and one primer labeled with 6-FAM dye for visualization (5'- CTTTCCAGAATCTGTTCCAG-3') was then used to amplify the CAG repeat segment of the AR gene. To separate the amplified CAG repeat fragments according to size (i.e. repeat length), following several cycles of PCR, the fragments were subjected to capillary electrophoresis. Fragments were detected using an ABI3730XL DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems Inc., Waltham, Massachusetts). GeneMapper software (Version 3.5, Applied Biosystems Inc.) was used to quantify the length of the CAG repeat segment from each saliva sample. A subset of saliva samples with different CAG repeat lengths was sequenced to verify the repeat sizes that were obtained following capillary electrophoresis.

#### 2.3.3 *Testosterone Measurement*

To quantify bioavailable testosterone (T), participants used a plain sterile polystyrene culture tube to collect 3 mL of whole saliva. Separate polystyrene tubes were provided for the collection of the first and second saliva specimens. To collect the saliva, participants used the 'passive drool' method, in which the head and chin are tilted down, allowing saliva to accumulate passively near the front of the mouth over a period of a few minutes. Once a sufficient amount of saliva had accumulated, participants were instructed to expel the saliva into the collection tube provided. The passive drool method does not use any artificial reagents to stimulate saliva flow (e.g. commercial gums), which sometimes contain ingredients that can interfere with the accuracy of immunoassay measurements including, rarely, radioimmunoassays (RIA) (Granger et al., 2004). Participants repeated the passive drool procedure until they reached the 3 mL symbol on the collection tube. All saliva specimens were frozen at -20 degrees Celsius until they were analyzed. The assays were performed by the Laboratory of Neuroendocrinology at the University of Western Ontario.

In human serum, T typically exists in 3 forms: a majority is bound to sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG), a fraction is bound non-specifically to albumin, and a smaller fraction of the hormone is free, unbound, T. However, only the free and albumin-bound forms of T are bioavailable and thus biologically active (Vermeulen, 1973; McCann & Kirkish, 1985). Conversely, SHBG-bound T is considered to lack biological activity, as the protein complex dissociates very slowly (Baird et al., 1969). Saliva consists only of free hormone, and does not contain any SHBG-bound T (Vining, McGinley, & Symons, 1983). Previous research has found free T to exist in equilibrium between the serum and saliva (Lood et al., 2017). Furthermore, high correlations, ranging from r = 0.83 (Johnson, Joplin, & Burrin, 1987) to r = 0.97 (Vittek et al., 1985), between serum and saliva free T concentrations have been found. Consequently, the concentration of T in saliva is considered to be highly representative of the fraction of free T circulating in the bloodstream which is able to bind to AR in various target tissues, including the CNS (Keevil et al., 2014).

In the present study, radioimmunoassay (RIA) was used to analyze each saliva specimen in duplicate, following centrifuging and without extraction. A well-established laboratory

protocol developed locally (Moffat & Hampson, 1996) was used to modify a <sup>125</sup>I Coat-A-Count kit for T (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc., Deerfield, Illinois) for use with saliva. The <sup>125</sup>I Coat-A-Count antiserum has a cross-reactivity with dihydrotestosterone (DHT) of less than 5% and negligible cross-reactivity with other steroids and is thus highly specific for T. The intra-assay coefficient of variation (CV) averaged 5%. The lower limit of detection of the assay was 6 pg/mL.

#### 2.3.4 Cortisol Measurement

In addition to quantifying bioavailable T, each of the two 3 mL saliva samples collected by participants (see Section 2.3.3) were also used to quantify bioavailable basal cortisol (CORT) concentration.

Like testosterone, CORT typically exists in one of 3 forms in human serum: either bound to corticosteroid binding globulin (CBG or transcortin), non-specifically bound to albumin, or in free form (not bound to a carrier protein, i.e. unbound CORT). In non-stressful situations, the unbound form accounts for only about 5% of total serum CORT. Conversely, the CBG-bound and albumin-bound forms account for 80-90% and 10-15% of total serum CORT, respectively (Lewis et al., 2005). However, only the free, unbound hormone can enter tissues, diffuse across cell membranes, and bind with high affinity to the glucocorticoid receptor (Mendel, 1989). Therefore, only the unbound form is considered bioavailable, and thus, biologically active (Perogamvros, Ray, & Trainer, 2012). Saliva consists only of free, unbound CORT (Katz & Shannon, 1969), and free CORT exists in equilibrium between the serum and saliva (Umeda et al., 1981). Similar to salivary T, previous research has found that measures of salivary CORT are reliable indicators of the bioavailable portion of CORT in the bloodstream that is able to interact with the CNS (Vining et al., 1983).

To quantify CORT, RIA was performed by the Laboratory of Neuroendocrinology at Western. RIA was used to analyze the saliva specimens, without extraction. A <sup>125</sup>I Coat-A-Count kit for cortisol (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc., Deerfield, Illinois, United States) was modified according to a well-established and previously used laboratory protocol (Moffat & Hampson, 1996) for use with saliva. Each sample was measured in duplicate.

#### 2.4 Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed with IBM SPSS Statistics 27. To characterize the sample and obtain a preliminary understanding of the relationships among the variables, descriptive statistics, reliability coefficients, scatterplots, and zero-order correlations between the study variables were computed. The criterion for statistical significance was set at  $\alpha = .05$  for each test.

To investigate the first and second hypotheses, two sets of mood scores were computed. First, conventional scores on each of the 6 subscales of the Profile of Mood States (POMS) were calculated according to the formulas given in the test manual (McNair et al., 2003). Scores on the Depression-Dejection subscale (POMS-D) served as the primary subscale of interest. Secondly, all 65 individual items of the POMS were entered into a principal components analysis (PCA) to obtain empirically derived, weighted mood components.

Scores on the PCA-extracted depressive affect component, as well as scores on the POMS-D, served as criterion variables in multiple regression (MR) analyses to determine whether individuals' depressive affect component and/or POMS-D scores could be predicted from their bioavailable T concentrations and/or AR CAG-RL. A forced entry regression model was used. In addition to predictors for T concentrations and CAG-RL, 3 control variables were included in the regression models. Two variable selection techniques were employed in the current thesis: theory-driven and model comparisons (Kelley & Maxwell, 2019). Initially, current literature and a priori considerations were used to select a subset of predictors that could potentially affect the measured levels of T or CAG. Model comparisons, specifically hierarchical regressions, were then employed to compare models containing different combinations of potential predictor variables (Kelley & Maxwell, 2019; Maxwell, Delaney, & Kelley, 2018). Several variables which were selected for model comparisons on theoretical grounds, including an interaction term between AVGT and CAG-RL, failed to contribute any predictive power to the regression models and were eliminated on that basis from inclusion in the final regression equation. Ultimately, AGE, or the age of each participant in years, served as a control variable. Although participants were 'young' men between ages 18 and 35, male T levels do decline slightly to the population average until age 40 after reaching their apex at approximately age 19 (Kelsey et al., 2014). DATE, or the month of the year that participants

were tested, served as a second control variable. Male T levels have been found to display a circannual rhythm, in which T concentrations are highest in autumn months and lowest in spring months (Moffat & Hampson, 2000; Perry et al., 2000; Svartberg et al., 2003). Finally, the interaction between bioavailable T concentration and whether or not participants met the established POMS-D cut-point for depressive symptoms (AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF) was included as a predictor in the regression model. Specifically, a score of greater than 20 on the POMS-D was selected as the threshold for identifying mild-to-moderate depression based on previous work using the POMS (Nyenhuis et al., 1999; Patterson et al., 2006; Bay, Hagerty, & Williams, 2007). Because the relationship between T concentration, CAG-RL, and depressive affect has been found by some researchers to depend on the severity of an individual's depression (Colangelo et al., 2007; Sankar & Hampson, 2012; Hirtz et al., 2021), and because dummy-coded depression status predictors have been used in previous literature (Hirtz et al., 2021), AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF was computed and included as a predictor in the regression analyses.

To investigate the third hypothesis, the PCA-derived depressive affect component scores were regressed on basal cortisol and cortisol-influencing control variables. A forced entry regression model was used. Here again, theory-driven and model comparison techniques were used to select the control variables to be included in the regression models (Kelley & Maxwell, 2019). In addition to the inclusion of DATE and AGE as predictor variables, TIMEDIFF, or the difference in hours between the time that participants typically woke up in the morning and the time of day they were tested in our laboratory served as a control variable to account for the effect of such a time difference on the circadian rhythm (Krieger et al., 1971).

## Chapter 3

## 3 Results

## 3.1 Data Processing

Data for all POMS and Health & Demographics (H&D) questionnaire items, as well as the biological measures (bioavailable T and CORT levels, CAG-RL), was inspected prior to any statistical analyses. Univariate outliers and any missing data were checked using the 'Frequencies' function of SPSS. A criterion of ± 3 standard deviations (SD) from the sample mean, as well as Mahalanobis distance, were used to identify outliers (Dunn, 2021).

Analysis of missingness revealed no missing data for bioavailable T, bioavailable CORT, or CAG-RL in the current sample. Given the minimal amount of missing data, a complete case analysis was employed, in which it is assumed that any missing data are missing at random (Liu, 2016). A complete case analysis is the simplest method for handling missing data and is ideal in cases where there is little missingness, such as the current thesis.

## 3.2 Biological Measures

The two bioavailable T concentration measurements for each participant were averaged across the test session to optimize reliability. Average salivary T concentration in the sample ranged from 30.53 pg/mL to 302.98 pg/mL (M = 86.83, SD = 29.35) (Figure 1). These values are in agreement with previous studies of bioavailable T concentrations in young men (e.g., Moffat & Hampson, 1996; Yang et al., 2007). While it is possible that the T concentration of 302.98 pg/mL found for one participant occurred naturally and did not reflect experimental error, this value was far beyond the outlier criterion of  $\pm 3$  SD from the sample mean. Consequently, this participant was classified as an extreme outlier and removed from further statistical analyses. Furthermore, one other participant that constituted a multivariate outlier on bioavailable T concentration and Negative Affect component score (see Section 3.3.2) was also removed. Therefore, the final sample size consisted of N = 216 participants.

Androgen receptor (AR) CAG repeat length (CAG-RL) ranged from 13 to 30 repeats (M = 22.09, SD = 2.89). The distribution of CAG-RLs can be seen in Figure 2. These values are in

agreement with other studies of CAG-RL in previous samples of physically healthy men, which typically report a range of CAG-RL between 8 to 37 and an average repeat length of roughly 20-22 repeats (Edwards et al., 1992; Vermeersch et al., 2010; Sankar & Hampson, 2012). A *t*-test revealed that participants who self-identified as East Asian (n = 43) had significantly longer CAG-RL than participants who did not self-identify as East Asian (t(216)= -2.89, p = .004). This finding is commonly reported in the literature (Hsing et al., 2000; Platz et al., 2000), and further suggests that the current study contained a typical sample of CAG-RLs.

To check whether having short and long CAG-RLs might lead to homeostatic compensation in T levels, a Pearson correlation coefficient between bioavailable T concentration and CAG-RL was computed. In the current sample, the Pearson correlation coefficient was r = -.02 (p =.740), which suggested that T levels did not compensate for having a longer or shorter CAG-RL, and that bioavailable T levels and CAG-RL varied independently. This finding is in line with several previous studies that have found no association between circulating T levels and CAG-RL (e.g., Sankar & Hampson, 2012; Ryan et al., 2017; Hirtz et al., 2021).

For cortisol, the two bioavailable CORT concentration measurements were likewise averaged across the test session. The average salivary CORT (AVG CORT) concentration ranged from 1.36 pg/mL to 22.34 pg/mL (M = 6.01, SD = 3.20). This range is consistent with other studies of salivary basal CORT levels in physically healthy men evaluated at a similar time of day (Moffat & Hampson, 1996; Brownlee, Moore, & Hackney, 2005). The distribution for AVG CORT was highly positively skewed and can be seen in Figure 3. Positively skewing in basal cortisol is nearly always seen when cortisol concentrations are monitored (e.g., Kobayashi & Miyazaki, 2015). Consequently, to transform this skewed distribution so that it better approximated normality for subsequent regression analyses (Feng et al., 2014), a logarithmic transformation was applied, generating a new variable: LOG AVG CORT. As seen in Figure 3, the distribution for LOG AVG CORT approximated normality. In men, an inverse association between circulating T and CORT levels is frequently reported in the literature under stress conditions where cortisol levels are raised (Bambino & Hsueh, 1981; Cumming et al., 1983). However, a positive correlation is more routinely seen under basal, non-stress

conditions (e.g. Mehta & Joseph, 2010; Sherman et al., 2016). Consequently, a Pearson correlation coefficient between bioavailable T concentration and LOG AVG CORT was computed. The correlation coefficient was r = .34 (p < .001), consistent with previous literature.

## 3.3 Measurement of Mood

To quantify mood, including depressive affect, two sets of scores were computed. For the first set, conventional scores on each of the 6 factor analytically derived subscales of the POMS were calculated according to the standard formulas provided in the test manual (McNair et al., 2003). For the second set, a principal components analysis (PCA) was applied to the 65 individual items of the POMS. This allowed empirically-derived, weighted mood scores based on the empirical dimensions underlying the POMS to be calculated. Because the individual items of the POMS are weighted according to their importance, the second set of scores served as the primary outcome variable of interest for subsequent regression analyses.

#### 3.3.1 *Profile of Mood States (POMS)*

Based on the standard formulas provided in the test manual (McNair et al., 2003), each participant's individual scores on the 6 POMS subscales (Depression-Dejection (D), Tension-Anxiety (T), Anger-Hostility (A), Fatigue-Inertia (F), Vigour-Activity (V), and Confusion-Bewilderment (C)) were calculated. Descriptive statistics for each subscale can be seen in Table 2. The POMS-D was found to have a mean score of 12.47 (SD = 9.56). This score is relatively typical for university samples, who report greater depressive affect than the general adult population. For comparison, a normative community sample of male adults was found to have a mean score of 7.5 (SD = 9.2) on the POMS-D (Nyenhuis et al., 1999).



**Figure 1.** Average Salivary Testosterone Concentration. Average salivary T concentration ranged from 30.53 pg/mL to 302.98 pg/mL (M = 86.83, SD = 29.35). These values are consistent with past studies of bioavailable T concentration in healthy young men.



**Figure 2.** Androgen Receptor CAG Repeat Length. AR CAG repeat length ranged from 13 to 30 repeats (M = 22.09, SD = 2.89). These values are consistent with past studies of CAG length in samples of physically healthy men.



**Figure 3.** Average Basal Cortisol Concentration. Average salivary CORT concentration (top) ranged from 1.36 pg/mL to 22.34 pg/mL (M = 6.01, SD = 3.20). These values are consistent with other studies of basal cortisol levels in young men. A logarithmic transformation was applied (AVG CORT LOG) to correct the highly positively skewed distribution (bottom).

## Table 2.

## Descriptive Statistics for the Profile of Mood States (POMS).

POMS Subscale	М	SD
Depression-Dejection (D)	12.47	9.56
Anger-Hostility (A)	12.02	8.29
Tension-Anxiety (T)	10.64	6.00
Fatigue-Inertia (F)	9.50	5.16
Vigour-Activity (V)	18.89	5.12
Confusion-Bewilderment (C)	9.65	4.42

#### 3.3.2 Principal Components Analysis (PCA)

To create a weighted, empirically-derived measure of mood, responses on the 65 individual items of the POMS were entered into a principal components analysis (PCA). A PCA has commonly been used to study the factor structure of the POMS (Norcross, Guadagnoli, & Prochaska, 1984; Bourgeois, LeUnes, & Meyers, 2010). The extracted dimensions were then subjected to oblimin (oblique) rotation. Oblique rotation was used because the correlations between scores on the 6 theoretical POMS subscales have consistently been found to range from -.12 to .70 in male undergraduate students in past research (e.g., McNair et al., 2003). The number of dimensions identified in past work is reliably about 6 dimensions, but varies from 4 (Reddon et al., 1985), 5 (Lorr, McNair, & Fisher, 1982; Bourgeois, LeUnes, & Meyers, 2010), 6 (McNair & Lorr, 1964), 7 (Norcross, Guadagnoli, & Prochaska, 1984), or even 9 (Boyle, 1987) factor solutions. Consequently, while the visual scree test (Cattell, 1966) was utilized, we evaluated several different component solutions with different numbers of dimensions specified. PCA with oblique rotation and a 7-component structure provided the best solution for the data. While the test developers and other researchers have identified a 6-factor solution for the POMS (McNair et al., 1971), 7-component solutions are not uncommon in analyses of the POMS (Norcross, Guadagnoli, & Prochaska, 1984).

Based on the pattern of items with coefficients of 0.30 or higher for each component, 5 of the 7 components extracted reflected the theoretical subscale structure of the POMS: Depression-Dejection (D), Fatigue-Inertia (F), Anger-Hostility (A), Tension-Anxiety (T), and Vigour-Activity (V) (McNair et al., 2003). Component coefficients that were interpreted for a given component ranged from  $\pm$  .305 to  $\pm$  .766. Every POMS item with its respective component coefficient can be seen in Table 3. Notably, the Confusion-Bewilderment (C) component failed to emerge as an independent dimension in our dataset. However, failure to extract a Confusion component is fairly commonly reported in the POMS literature (McNair & Lorr, 1964; Norcross, Guadagnoli, & Prochaska, 1984; Bourgeois, LeUnes, & Meyers, 2010). The remaining 2 out of the 7 extracted components appeared to reflect a splintering of a positive component, which has also been reported previously in at least one study, performed by the original developers of the POMS (Lorr, McNair, & Weinstein, 1963). These two components

accounted for little overall variance. Consequently, these components were labelled Mixed #1 and Mixed #2 and were not analyzed further (Table 3). The eigenvalues for each of the 7 components are shown at the bottom of Table 3.

The component that encompassed the Depression-Dejection (POMS-D) subscale had the largest eigenvalue and accounted for the greatest proportion of variance. As shown in Table 4, while all 15 items from the standard POMS-D weighted on the Depression component, a small number of items from the Anger-Hostility (4), Fatigue-Inertia (2), Tension-Anxiety (2), and Confusion-Bewilderment (4) subscales of the POMS also loaded on this component (see also Norcross Guadagnoli, & Prochaska, 1984; Reddon et al., 1985). Such complexity likely reflects the diverse array of affective symptoms that may be associated with depression (NIH, 2018). In recognition of the fact that the POMS-D component was slightly broader in scope, it was renamed "Negative Affect" for purposes of the present study. Given that the Negative Affect component was empirically extracted, participants' scores on this component served as the primary outcome variable of theoretical interest in subsequent regression analyses.

### 3.4 T Activity and Depressive Affect

To get a preliminary overview of the data, individual scatterplots of the Negative Affect component scores and the standard POMS-D subscale scores were generated, plotted by either T concentration or by CAG repeat length. Scatterplots for T can be seen in Figure 4. The plots suggested a non-linear, quadratic relationship might possibly be present between T concentration (AVGT) and depressive affect in addition to the hypothesized linear trend. A quadratic relationship has been reported previously in the literature in at least one study (Kratzik et al., 2007). To test this possibility, subsequent regression analyses included a linear predictor for T concentration, but also a quadratic predictor for AVGT. Specifically, the squared deviation from the mean was computed as the quadratic term for AVGT (Allison, 1999). In contrast to T, the plots did not suggest any systematic relationship between CAG-RL and depressive affect.

## Table 3.

Depression- Dejection	Vigour- Activity	Fatigue- Inertia	Mixed #1	Tension- Anxiety	Anger- Hostility	Mixed #2
Helpless (.704)	Lively (.644)	Fatigued (.766)	Considerate (.759)	Panicky (661)	Ready to fight (726)	Vigorous (.677)
Unworthy (.703)	Friendly (.616)	Exhausted (.717)	Good natured (.652)	Anxious (601)	Angry (629)	Forgetful (.463)
Worthless (.694)	Energetic (.591)	Sluggish (.714)	Helpful (.552)	Nervous (569)	Bad-tempered (622)	Rebellious (.331)
Lonely (.675)	Trusting (.573)	Worn out (.696)	Sympathetic (.439)	Carefree (.549)	Rebellious (617)	Carefree (.329)
Blue (.658)	Cheerful (.555)	Unable to concentrate (.607)	Efficient (394)	Tense (525)	Furious (544)	Full of pep (.317)
Sad (.651)	Full of pep (.506)	Bushed (.537)	Alert (.381)	Uneasy (523)	Grouchy (482)	
Deceived (.649)	Active (.432)	Weary (.464)	Clear-headed (.340)	Relaxed (472)	Peeved (469)	
Miserable (.608)	Sympathetic (.426)	Forgetful (.442)		On edge (398)	Spiteful (466)	
Discouraged (.596)	Relaxed (393)	Active (359)		Shaky (392)	Annoyed (395)	
Sorry for things done (.595)	Unhappy (358)	Restless (.347)		Restless (316)	Resentful (394)	
Hopeless (.550)		Listless (.342)			Trusting (.353)	
Bitter (.528)		Nervous (.323)			Active (346)	
Unhappy (.525)		Bewildered (.318)			Guilty (305)	
Muddled (.517)						
Guilty (.503)						

Results of the Principal Components Analysis of the POMS.

19 43	5.48	2.80	2.00	1.97	1.81	1.42
Eigenvalues:						
Listless (.315)						
(.352)						
(.354)						
Spiteful						
Desperate (.357)						
On edge (.358)						
Weary (.361)						
Bewildered (.380)						
Confused (.412)						
Terrified (.414)						
Uncertain about things (.447)						
Resentful (.466)						
Gloomy (.501)						

*Note.* PCA with oblimin rotation was applied to the 65 POMS items. Only items with  $\pm 0.30$  or higher weights on one or more of the components are shown here. A 7-component structure was extracted. Five of the extracted components reflected the theoretical subscale structure of the POMS: Depression-Dejection, Fatigue-Inertia, Anger-Hostility, Tension-Anxiety, and Vigour-Activity. Component coefficients ranged from  $\pm$  .300 to  $\pm$  .766 [POMS Item (Coefficient)]. Eigenvalues for each component are depicted in bold font.

#### Table 4.

Distribution of Items from the Original	l POMS Scale	That Loaded	on the Negative A	Affect
Component in the Present Study.				

Depression- Dejection	Fatigue-Inertia	Tension-Anxiety	Anger-Hostility	Confusion- Bewilderment
Helpless (.704)	Weary (.361)	On edge (.358)	Deceived (.649)	Muddled (.517)
Unworthy (.703)	Listless (.315)	Shaky (.352)	Bitter (.528)	Uncertain about things (.447)
Worthless (.694)			Resentful (.466)	Confused (.412)
Lonely (.675)			Spiteful (.354)	Bewildered (.380)
Blue (.658)				
Sad (.651)				
Miserable (.608)				
Discouraged (.596)				
Sorry for things done (.595)				
Hopeless (.550)				
Unhappy (.525)				
Guilty (.503)				
Gloomy (.501)				
Terrified (.414)				
Desperate (.357)				

*Note*. The Negative Affect component not only contained all 15 items from the original Depression-Dejection subscale of the POMS, but it also contained a small number of items from the standard Anger-Hostility, Fatigue-Inertia, Tension-Anxiety, and Confusion-Bewilderment subscales. Each POMS item with its respective coefficient for the Negative Affect component is listed in the table [POMS Item (Coefficient)].

## 3.5 Prediction of Depressive Affect

Multiple regression analyses were conducted using the Negative Affect component scores and, to demonstrate generalizability, the standard POMS-D subscale scores as criterion variables, and AVGT, CAG-RL, and control variables as predictors to determine whether T activity contributed to the variance in depressive affect. Although regression analyses were conducted for the sample as a whole (N = 216), a median split was also performed (median = 81.79 pg/mL) and separate, identical regression analyses were conducted for the 'Low T' group (AVGT < 81.79 pg/mL; n = 109), and the 'High T' group (AVGT > 81.79 pg/mL; n =107). To aid interpretation, only standardized regression coefficients ( $\beta$ , beta weights) were analyzed in the current thesis. The squared semi-partial correlation (*part*<sup>2</sup>) was examined to determine the unique proportion of variance in the criterion variable accounted for by a given predictor.

As shown in Table 5, in the sample as a whole (N = 216), AVGT-linear ( $\beta$  = .004, p = .941), AVGT-quadratic ( $\beta$  = .011, p = .838), and CAG-RL ( $\beta$  = .005, p = .908) all failed to emerge as significant predictors of the Negative Affect component, although the overall model was significant predictor of Negative Affect was AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF ( $\beta$  = .735, p = < .001), the interaction term between AVGT and whether participants met the POMS-D cut-point for depressive symptoms. This indicated that the slope of AVGT differed depending on whether participants met the cut-point for mild-to-moderate depressive symptoms or instead fell within the non-depressed range (UCLA, 2021). Nearly identical results were obtained if the standard POMS-D subscale score, calculated using the formula in the test manual, was regressed on the predictors in the sample as a whole (F(6, 213) = 49.09;  $R^2 = .587$ ; p < .001) (Table 5).

Similar to the sample as a whole, in the High T subgroup (AVGT > 81.79 pg/mL) considered on its own (n = 107), AVGT-linear ( $\beta = .160$ , p = .266), AVGT-quadratic ( $\beta = -.139$ , p = .335), and CAG-RL ( $\beta = -.076$ , p = .231) also all failed to emerge as significant predictors of the Negative Affect component (F(6, 104) = 25.93;  $R^2 = .614$ ; p < .001) (Table 5). Again, the only variable that emerged as a significant predictor in the High T subgroup was AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF ( $\beta$  = .778, p < .001). As shown in Table 5, very similar results were obtained if standard POMS-D subscale scores were regressed on the predictors in the High T group on its own (F(6, 104) = 29.73;  $R^2 = .645$ ; p < .001).

As shown in Table 6, in contrast to the sample as a whole and the High T subgroup, in the Low T subgroup (AVGT < 81.79 pg/mL) considered on its own (n = 109), AVGT-linear ( $\beta = -.561$ , p = .036), AVGT-quadratic ( $\beta = -.523$ , p = .050), and CAG-RL ( $\beta = .140$ , p = .050) all emerged as statistically significant predictors of the Negative Affect component (F(6, 108) = 16.80;  $R^2 = .497$ ; p < .001). The beta weight for AVGT-linear was negative and of large magnitude according to current conventions. Conversely, the beta weight for CAG-RL was positive and of modest magnitude according to current conventions (Allen, 1999). Therefore, among males with low T availability, lower T concentrations and longer AR CAG-RLs were associated with greater Negative Affect. Based on their *part*<sup>2</sup>, AVGT-linear, AVGT-quadratic, and CAG-RL together accounted for 6.11% of the variance in Negative Affect.

In addition to the T activity variables, AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF ( $\beta = .711, p = < .001$ ) also emerged as a significant predictor of Negative Affect in the Low T subgroup. Together, AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF and the T activity predictor variables accounted for 54.42% of the variance in Negative Affect. Similar values were obtained if, instead of the Negative Affect component, the standard POMS-D subscale score was regressed on the predictors in the Low T subgroup (F(6, 108) = 19.68;  $R^2 = .536$ ; p < .001) (Table 6). However, with the POMS-D as a criterion, beta weights for the T activity predictor variables were smaller in magnitude and their p values shifted marginally to become non-significant.



**Figure 4.** *The Relationship Between T Concentration and Depressive Affect.* Individual scatterplots of the Negative Affect component scores (left) or standard POMS-D subscale scores (right) plotted by average T concentration. The scatterplots suggested the possibility of a non-linear, quadratic relationship between AVGT and depressive affect in addition to a linear trend.

## Table 5.

## Prediction of Depressive Affect in the Entire Sample and in the High T Subgroup.

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Negative Affect Component	.736 (p < .001)	.542	AVGT (Linear)	.004	.941
			AVGT (Quadratic)	.011	.838
			CAGRL	.005	.908
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	.735	< .001
			DATE	016	.733
			AGE	012	.805
Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
POMS-D	.766 ( <i>p</i> < .001)	.587	AVGT (Linear)	.029	.560
			AVGT (Quadratic)	.008	.879
			CAGRL	.02	.659
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	.761	<.001
			DATE	013	.779
			AGE	034	.453

## **Entire Sample:**

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Negative Affect Component	.783 ( <i>p</i> < .001)	.614	AVGT (Linear)	.160	.266
			AVGT (Quadratic)	139	.335
			CAGRL	076	.231
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	.778	< .001
			DATE	.027	.684
			AGE	087	.172
Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
POMS-D	.803 (p < .001)	.645	AVGT (Linear)	.121	.382
			AVGT (Quadratic)	095	.490
			CAGRL	032	.594
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	.800	<.001
			DATE	.019	.758
			AGE	090	.138

High T (AVGT > 81.79 pg/mL) Subgroup:

*Note.* In the sample as a whole, AVGT-linear, AVGT-quadratic and CAGRL all failed to emerge as significant predictors of the Negative Affect component. In the High T subgroup (AVGT > Median) considered on its own, the AVGT-linear, AVGT-quadratic, and CAGRL terms also failed to significantly predict the Negative Affect component. Similar values were obtained if standard POMS-D subscale scores were used as a criterion variable.

#### Table 6.

### Prediction of the Negative Affect Component in the Low T Subgroup.

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Negative Affect Component	.705 ( <i>p</i> < .001)	.497	AVGT (Linear)	561	.036
			AVGT (Quadratic)	523	.050
			CAGRL	.140	.050
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	.711	< .001
			DATE	113	.121
			AGE	.078	.274
Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
POMS-D	.732 ( <i>p</i> < .001)	.536	AVGT (Linear)	470	.066
			AVGT (Quadratic)	444	.083
			CAGRL	.112	.103
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	.747	< .001
			DATE	097	.167
			AGE	029	.671

Low T (AVGT < 81.79 pg/mL) Subgroup:

*Note.* In the Low T subgroup (AVGT < Median) considered on its own, AVGT-linear, AVGT- quadratic, and CAGRL all emerged as significant predictors of the Negative Affect component. Similar values but nonsignificant beta weights were obtained if standard POMS Depression-Dejection (POMS-D) subscale scores were regressed on the T activity predictors in the low T subgroup.

## 3.6 Prediction of Other Mood Components

To determine whether the T activity predictor variables contributed to the variance in any of the other mood components revealed by the principal components analysis (PCA), the PCA-extracted Vigour-Activity, Fatigue-Inertia, Tension-Anxiety, and Anger-Hostility components were each regressed onto the same set of predictors described above. The purpose was to determine whether any predictive relationships seen for the T activity variables were selective to Negative Affect or might also be observed for other negative dimensions of mood. Regressions for each of the non-Negative Affect mood components were only conducted for the Low T subgroup (AVGT < 81.79 pg/mL).

As shown in Table 7, AVGT-linear, AVGT-quadratic, and CAG-RL all failed to emerge as statistically significant predictors of the PCA-extracted Vigour-Activity, Fatigue-Inertia, Tension-Anxiety, or Anger-Hostility mood components. Conversely, the AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF term was a statistically significant predictor for 3 of the 4 mood components. Specifically, AVGT\*DEP\_CUTOFF was a positive predictor for the Fatigue-Inertia component ( $\beta = .302$ , p = .002), but a negative predictor for the Vigour-Activity ( $\beta = .207$ , p = .036) and Anger-Hostility components ( $\beta = -.405$ , p < .001). Consequently, the T activity predictor variables failed to predict any other empirically derived aspect of mood besides Negative Affect in the Low T subgroup.

## 3.7 Basal Cortisol and Depressive Affect

To investigate whether changes in cortisol associated with depression might underlie the observed relationship between the T variables and depressive affect, we first performed a one-way ANOVA to test whether mean cortisol levels were higher in individuals with elevated depressive symptoms on the POMS. Using DEP\_CUTOFF to classify each participant, we found that mean logged cortisol concentration was 0.75 (SD = 0.23) for participants that met the POMS-D cut-point for mild-to-moderate depression and 0.72 (SD = 0.20) for non-depressed participants. Consequently, a one-way ANOVA failed to reveal any significant difference in mean logged cortisol concentration between participants that met the

### Table 7.

## Prediction of the Other PCA-Derived Mood Components in the Low T Subgroup.

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	В	р
Vigour-Activity Component	.271 ( <i>p</i> = .241)	.07	AVGT (Linear)	.219	.542
			AVGT (Quadratic)	.262	.466
			CAGRL	.125	.196
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	207	.036
			DATE	.084	.397
			AGE	062	.520

Low ]	Г (AVG	T < 81.7	9 pg/mL)	) Subgroup:

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Fatigue-Inertia Component	.399 ( <i>p</i> = .006)	.159	AVGT (Linear)	019	.955
			AVGT (Quadratic)	.016	.963
			CAGRL	.127	.167
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	.302	.002
			DATE	.203	.032
			AGE	107	.245

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Tension-Anxiety Component	.225 ( <i>p</i> = .495)	.051	AVGT (Linear)	.095	.793
			AVGT (Quadratic)	.050	.890
			CAGRL	061	.532
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	177	.076
			DATE	065	.516
			AGE	101	.301

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Anger-Hostility Component	.423 ( <i>p</i> = .002)	.179	AVGT (Linear)	029	.932
			AVGT (Quadratic)	087	.796
			CAGRL	.007	.936
			AVGT*DEP_CUTOFF	405	< .001
			DATE	.014	.881
			AGE	.126	.167

*Note.* In the Low T subgroup (AVGT < Median) considered on its own, the linear T concentration (AVGT-linear), quadratic T concentration (AVGT-quadratic), and CAG repeat length (CAGRL) all failed to emerge as significant predictors of any of the non-Negative Affect components derived from the PCA.

POMS-D cut-point for mild-to-moderate depression (n = 40) and non-depressed participants (n = 176) (F(1, 214) = .56, p = .453).

As a preliminary inspection of the data, scatterplots of the Negative Affect component score and the standard POMS-D subscale score were generated, showing how these scores varied as a function of each individual's basal cortisol concentration (AVG CORT LOG). As shown in Figure 5, inspection of the plots did not suggest any systematic relationship between AVG CORT LOG and depressive affect.

Multiple regression analyses were conducted using the Negative Affect component scores as the criterion variable. AVG CORT LOG and control variables were entered as predictors to determine whether basal CORT concentrations contributed to the variance in depressive affect. The analyses were performed for the sample as a whole (N = 216), the Low T subgroup (n = 109), and the High T subgroup (n = 107). As noted earlier, the T activity variables had emerged as significant predictors only for the Low T subgroup.

As shown in Table 8, in the sample as a whole (N = 216), AVG CORT LOG ( $\beta$  = .034, p = .641) failed to emerge as a significant predictor of Negative Affect (F(4, 212) = 0.57;  $R^2 =$  .011; p = .684). In the Low T subgroup, AVG CORT LOG ( $\beta = -.029$ , p = .782) also failed to emerge as a significant predictor of Negative Affect (F(4, 107) = 0.158;  $R^2 = .006$ ; p = .959). Finally, in the High T subgroup, AVG CORT LOG ( $\beta = .018$ , p = .861) failed to emerge as a significant predictor of Negative Affect (F(4, 104) = 1.48;  $R^2 = .055$ ; p = .224). Consequently, in the current study basal CORT concentrations failed to predict depressive affect.



**Figure 5.** *The Relationship Between Cortisol and Depressive Affect.* Shown here are individual scatterplots of the logarithmic cortisol concentration (AVG CORT LOG) plotted as a function of the Negative Affect component score (left) and POMS-D score (right). The plots did not suggest any relationship between AVG CORT LOG and depressive affect.

### Table 8.

## Regression of Negative Affect on Basal Cortisol Concentration.

# Entire Sample:

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Negative Affect Component	.104 ( <i>p</i> = .684)	.011	AVG CORT LOG	.034	.641
			DATE	082	.235
			AGE	037	.606
			TIMEDIFF	.046	.537

## High T (AVGT > 81.79 pg/mL) Subgroup:

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Negative Affect Component	.234 ( <i>p</i> = .224)	.055	AVG CORT LOG	.018	.861
			DATE	148	.131
			AGE	142	.166
			TIMEDIFF	.144	.170

Criterion	R	$R^2$	Predictor	β	р
Negative Affect Component	.078 (p = .959)	.006	AVG CORT LOG	029	.782
			DATE	021	.835
			AGE	.069	.495
			TIMEDIFF	043	.676

Low T (AVGT < 81.79 pg/mL) Subgroup:

*Note.* For the sample as a whole, the Low T subgroup, and the High T subgroup, Negative Affect component score was regressed on the log-transformed basal cortisol concentration (AVG CORT LOG) and relevant control variables. AVG CORT LOG failed to emerge as a significant predictor of Negative Affect across any of the three groups.
### Chapter 4

#### 4 Discussion

The current thesis aimed to explore the relationship between bioavailable T levels, AR CAG-RL, and depressive affect in young men, and to determine whether alterations in cortisol availability related to depression might underlie any relationships observed. Specifically, it was predicted that: (1) Greater depressive affect would be associated with lower T activity and/or longer AR CAG-RL, (2) Longer AR CAG-RLs would be associated with greater depressive symptoms, and (3) Depressive affect would be associated with higher cortisol. Our results showed partial support for these hypotheses. A relationship between bioavailable T levels, AR CAG-RL, and depressive affect was found, but only in men with low circulating T concentrations, not in men with average or high T concentrations. In contrast to our a priori hypothesis, depressive affect was not associated with higher mean basal cortisol levels and there was no evidence that cortisol mediated the association between T levels and depressive affect.

# 4.1 T Activity and Depressive Affect

In the subgroup of participants who had "low" T concentrations (AVGT < 81.79 pg/mL, the median T level in our sample of young men), the T activity predictor variables, bioavailable T concentration and AR CAG-RL, both emerged as significant predictors of Negative Affect, an empirically derived, weighted depressive affect component extracted from the POMS. Specifically, lower bioavailable T concentrations and longer CAG-RL, which is indicative of lower AR transactivational activity (Hsiao et al., 1999) and lower AR expression (Choong et al., 1996), predicted higher Negative Affect component scores in the subgroup of participants with low circulating T concentrations. Therefore, among the low T subgroup, low T activity was associated with a greater intensity of depressive affect. However, a relationship between circulating bioavailable T levels, AR CAG-RL, and depressive scores was not detected in participants who had average or higher T concentrations. Consequently, our first a priori hypothesis was only partially supported. Accordingly, we also found partial support for our second a priori hypothesis, as longer AR CAG-RL, which is indicative of a less efficacious

AR, predicted greater Negative Affect in the men with low circulating T concentrations, but not in those with average or high T concentrations. Such findings suggest that longer AR CAG-RL may not be associated with greater depressive symptoms in all men, rather only in those who also had lower bioavailable T concentrations.

The mechanism by which T may contribute to the manifestation of depressive affect is poorly understood. As mentioned in Section 1.3.2, testosterone has been shown in laboratory animals to interact with monoamine neurotransmitter systems, including the serotonergic (Rupprecht & Holsboer, 1999), dopaminergic (Weltzien et al., 2006), and noradrenergic (Hernandez-Rauda & Aldegunde, 2002) systems. Interactions between T and the serotonergic system are especially interesting because serotonin (5-HT) is well-known to contribute to mood and plays an important role in the neurobiology of depression (Malhi & Mann, 2018). For example, previous research has found T to antagonize the 5-HT<sub>3</sub> receptor (Wetzel et al., 1998), a serotonin-gated ion channel which contributes to the pathophysiology of depression and has recently been recognized as an attractive target for novel antidepressants (Rajkumar & Mahesh, 2010). Therefore, it is possible that T may contribute to mood regulation and the manifestation of depressive affect via its interactions with the serotonergic system (possibly combined with modulation of other neurotransmitter or neuroendocrine systems). However, further research is needed to investigate the precise mechanism(s) through which T might contribute to mood. Furthermore, the present finding that T predicted depressive affect only in men with low circulating T concentrations is not completely unexpected. Specifically, in our sample of physically healthy young men between ages 18 and 35, circulating T levels are at their highest point during the male lifespan. Such high T levels may function to exert a protective effect on mood. Consequently, detection of an association between circulating T levels, AR CAG-RL, and depressive affect may be seen only in those with low bioavailable T levels, as there is less circulating T to afford a protective effect.

The sample in the present study was composed primarily of men that had only normal range variation in their mood scores. As mentioned above, the relatively high levels of circulating T observed in most participants in our sample may have prevented a relationship between T activity and depressive affect from being detected in our sample as a whole. However, very

little research investigating the relationship between T and mood among males who have normal ranges in mood exists. Most literature regarding the relationship between T and mood is dedicated towards (1) investigating the relationship between T and depression specifically, and (2) investigating this relationship in hypogonadal men with low circulating levels of T or in depressed men. Consequently, interpretation of our null findings for participants with average and high circulating T concentrations is limited by the lack of available literature. Therefore, further research is needed to explore the relationship between T activity and mood in young males who have normal ranges in mood.

While current literature is limited, our findings are in agreement with several observational studies that have previously found evidence of a relationship between T concentration, AR CAG-RL, and negative mood (Amiaz & Seidman, 2008). For example, our current findings agree with and extend a previous study conducted in our lab which found that lower salivary T levels ( $\beta = -.150$ ) and longer AR CAG-RL ( $\beta = .480$ ) predicted greater depressive affect in young men who reported moderate to severe depressive symptoms on two standardized measures of depression, the CES-D and PHQ-9 (Sankar & Hampson, 2012). However, just as in the present study, no association was seen between T activity and depressive affect across their sample as a whole, when large numbers of nondepressed men were included. Furthermore, while Sankar and Hampson (2012) also found evidence of a relationship between T activity and depression-related sleep disturbances in their sample, they did not find any relationship between T activity and either Concentration, Social/Evaluative, or Appetitive symptoms of depression. Similarly, the current study reported a selective relationship between T activity and Negative Affect only, and not any other aspect of mood that is commonly reported as disturbed in men with depression, including anger and anxiety (NIH, 2017). The latter were extracted from a principal components analysis of the POMS.

While a relationship between T activity and our Fatigue-Inertia component was not detected, the current study might have better replicated Sankar and Hampson's sleep finding if a sleepcentric measure, such as the *Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index* (PSQI; Buysse et al., 1989) or polysomnography, had been utilized in conjunction with the POMS during data collection. This conjunctive approach should be employed in future studies to help better understand the contribution of CAG-RL to depression-related sleep disturbances. However, at the moment, our current findings suggest a relationship between T and feelings of depressive affect specifically.

Although our finding of a relationship between CAG-RL and depressive affect is in agreement with Sankar and Hampson (2012), the beta weight for CAG-RL ( $\beta$  = .140) in the current study was much smaller than the beta weight for CAG-RL reported in Sankar and Hampson's study ( $\beta$  = .480). This discrepancy may relate to our use of the POMS to assess participants mood, as Sankar and Hampson utilized two standardized measures of depression: the CES-D and PHQ-9. Consequently, differences in the depressive affect components that were extracted following principal components analyses across both studies may have contributed to the different magnitudes in the beta weights for CAG-RL.

Our finding of an association between bioavailable T and depressive affect in young men with low circulating T concentrations agrees with several observational studies of hypogonadal men, a natural population of men with low T levels, that have reported an inverse relationship between circulating T levels and depressive symptom severity (Barrett-Connor et al., 1999; Kratzik et al., 2007; Morsink et al., 2007). The present study's finding that the relationship between T activity and depressive affect might depend on circulating T levels also partially agrees with that of Booth, Johnson, and Granger (1999), who found that in men with below average T levels, the relationship between T and depressive affect was negative; but in those with above average levels of T, the relation between T and depressive affect was positive. In response to this conditional relationship, Booth et al. hypothesized an inverse relationship between T and depressive affect might exist in general, but proposed that at very high levels, T might be associated with behaviours that serve as risk factors for developing depressive affect, such as antisocial and risk behaviours (Booth et al., 1999). Although an inverse relationship between T activity and depressive affect was detected in the current sample in men with low circulating T levels, it is possible that our sample did not contain enough men with 'high' circulating T to detect a significant positive relationship between T activity and depressive affect.

Although the current study found a relationship between T activity and depressive affect in young men with low T concentrations, the correlational nature of the study design prevents any causality from being extrapolated. Nevertheless, as mentioned in Section 1.4.2, several studies involving the experimental manipulation of T, including exogenous T administration and androgen-deprivation therapy, have produced evidence that supports a causal role for T in mood regulation (Rabkin et al., 2000; Schmidt et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004; Daniell et al., 2006; DiBlasio et al., 2008; Snyder et al., 2016). The existence of a relationship with CAG-RL too suggests a pre-existing risk factor. However, many experimental studies of T have methodological problems, such as small sample sizes and/or no control group, and several other experimental studies have found no evidence of a contribution of T to mood regulation (Tricker et al., 1996; Seidman et al., 2005). Consequently, additional experimental and quasi-experimental work is needed to investigate the direction of causality in the relationship between T and depressive affect, including whether low circulating T levels lead to increased depressive affect or whether depressive affect leads to a reduction in circulating T concentrations.

# 4.2 Cortisol and Depressive Affect

Basal CORT levels did not predict Negative Affect scores across our sample as a whole or in either of our T subgroups. Furthermore, basal CORT levels were not found to be significantly different between participants who met the established POMS-D cut-point for the presence of clinical depression and non-depressed participants. These findings stand in contrast to our a priori hypothesis. Previous research has reported elevated levels of basal cortisol in many but not all individuals with major depression (Rubin et al., 1987; Vreeburg et al., 2009). It is likely that the majority of individuals in our sample did not have depression of a sufficient severity for dysregulation of the HPA axis to be seen. In our sample, basal CORT also did not mediate the observed association between T levels and depressive affect as shown by the absence of any evident relationship between cortisol levels and scores on the Negative Affect component. Researchers have hypothesized that disruptions in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, from which CORT is ultimately released into circulation, plays a role in the pathogenesis of depression (Holsboer & Barden, 1996). Additionally, high levels of T in

the supra-physiological range have been found to suppress the activity of the HPA axis and the release of CORT during the stress response (Viau & Meaney, 1996; Williamson & Viau, 2008), whereas prolonged high levels of CORT due to exposure to chronic stress are also associated with suppression in T production (Cumming et al., 1983; Kheirabad et al., 2016). In previous studies of circulating T and depressive symptoms, circulating levels of CORT are not typically analyzed concurrently with T. The present study is among the first to do so. However, when circulating levels of basal CORT were analyzed in the present study, we did not find evidence of any relationship between basal CORT and severity of depressive affect, nor evidence that CORT mediated the observed associations between T levels and depressive affect.

The absence of any significant relationship between cortisol levels and depressive affect in the current study may possibly relate to our measurement of basal cortisol only, rather than stress-induced cortisol levels. Specifically, in addition to elevated levels of basal cortisol, many but not all individuals with depression display abnormally high secretion of cortisol in response to psychological (Burke et al., 2005) and physical stressors (Holsboer, 2000). It is possible that if stress-induced CORT levels were measured, we might find a relationship between CORT and depressive affect. Our inability to detect any significant association between Negative Affect and CORT may also be related to the low number of individuals with severe depression in the current sample, as our dataset consisted predominantly of males with normal-range depressive scores who did not have evidence of HPA axis dysregulation. Accordingly, it is possible that if the current study had been able to include more participants with moderate-to-severe depression, we might have observed a stronger relationship between basal CORT levels and depressive affect scores.

# 4.3 Strengths, Limitations, Future Directions

Although the association we observed for CAG-RL was weak, we obtained partial support for a relationship between T activity and depressive affect. The current study has several strengths. First, a quadratic in addition to a linear relationship between circulating T levels and depressive affect was considered. Several past studies have reported a complex, nonlinear, and/or conditional relationship between circulating T levels and depressive symptom severity (Booth et al., 1999; Kratzik et al., 2007). However, relatively few researchers have considered the existence of a non-linear relationship between T and depressive affect a priori, and even fewer studies, if any, have included non-linear T concentration predictor terms in their regression analyses. Consequently, the current study provided a more comprehensive investigation of the statistical relationship between circulating T levels and depressive affect. Secondly, the current study not only investigated depressive affect, but through its utilization of the *Profile of Mood States* (POMS; McNair et al., 2003), it also had the capacity to investigate the relationship between T activity and other aspects of mood, including anger, anxiety, fatigue, vigour, and confusion. In addition to depressive affect, such as feelings of sadness and hopelessness, men with depression have been found to display a variety of other affective symptoms, including increases in anger, irritability, and aggressiveness (Kim et al., 2015); non-verbal and trait hostility (Fava et al., 1995), and anhedonia and anxiety (NIH, 2017). Therefore, by investigating other facets of mood besides depressive affect, the current study provided a more expansive investigation of the contribution of T to mood regulation and was able to demonstrate a selective relationship between T activity and depressive affect that did not extend to other aspects of negative mood. Another strength is our examination of basal CORT levels. Recall that previous research has found elevated levels of basal CORT in many individuals with depression (Rubin et al. 1987), and an inverse relationship between elevated CORT and T levels (Cumming et al., 1983). Our study is potentially the first in the literature to analyze the concurrent contribution of basal CORT and T to depressive affect. Additionally, the use of antidepressant medications was not a confound in the current study. Previous research has found that some antidepressant medications can alter the production of T (Hansen et al., 2017; Lupu et al., 2017; Munkboel et al., 2018). Consequently, participant antidepressant use represents a confound that is present in some clinical studies on T and depression which have been published previously. Therefore, in the present sample participants were removed from the analyses if they reported use of an antidepressant drug on the health and demographics questionnaire. A final strength of the current study is that it investigated the relationship between T activity and depressive affect in physically healthy young men. Current literature regarding the relationship between T levels, AR CAG-RL, and depressive affect is limited, but especially so for young men. Therefore, the current study has

addressed an under-studied age cohort that customarily reports higher rates of depression and depressive affect than the general population (Nyenhuis et al., 1999; Ibrahim et al., 2013).

Although the current study is strong in several respects, multiple limitations should also be noted. For example, the current sample size was relatively limited compared to other studies in the literature, particularly when the sample was divided based on median T concentration. Sample limitations also prevented us from being able to extract a depressed subgroup from the sample as a whole who displayed scores within the range on the POMS-D characteristic of people suffering from clinical depression (POMS-D > 20; see Nyenhuis et al., 1999; Griffith et al., 2005; Patterson et al., 2006; Bay et al., 2007). Only n = 40 males scored above the threshold of 20 in the current sample. A larger subgroup of individuals with likely depression would have allowed us to investigate associations between T activity and depressive symptoms in this distinct subgroup, and further extend the findings of Sankar & Hampson (2012). Furthermore, our sample contained few men reporting severe depressive symptoms in which a relationship between T activity and depressive affect might be more robust and easier to detect. Future work may seek to recruit a separate subgroup of demographically matched males who have received, or are currently receiving, treatment for depression (e.g. individuals receiving antidepressants and/or psychotherapy) to help establish whether having a longer AR CAG-RL might confer an increased risk.

Another limitation of the current study is the absence of a depression-centric measure. While the POMS had the important benefit of allowing us to investigate other aspects of mood besides Negative Affect, and several previous studies have employed the POMS-D to measure depressive mood (Szaflarski et al., 2003; Szaflarski & Szaflarski, 2004), the POMS-D was not specifically created to measure depressive affect or assess its severity. Consequently, it is possible that our findings might have been slightly different, or potentially stronger, had we utilized a self-report instrument more specifically designed to measure depressive symptoms, such as the *Beck Depression Inventory-II* (BDI-II; Beck, Steer, & Brown, 1996). Future work may seek to employ multiple self-report scales simultaneously to quantify participants' mood, including scales that assess mood broadly, such as the POMS, as well as scales explicitly designed to detect depression, such as the BDI-II.

The current study also only assessed individuals' depressive affect at a single timepoint during their lifespan and thus could not evaluate lifetime risk. Depression is episodic for most individuals, and the occurrence or timing of the first depressive episode, as well as the occurrence of further episodes, can vary significantly across the lifetime (Malhi & Mann, 2018). A longitudinal approach would allow researchers to compare changes in depressive affect over time with age-related changes in T levels, and to explore whether age-related changes in circulating T concentrations affect the observed relationship between T activity and depressive affect. Finally, further work should be conducted to investigate the precise mechanisms through which T may contribute to mood regulation, including a potential direct mechanism through binding the AR, through enzymatic conversion to another steroid hormone, or through interactions with other neuronal correlates of mood, such as central monoamines or the HPA axis.

### 4.4 Implications and Conclusions

The current thesis found that bioavailable T concentration and the CAG trinucleotide repeat polymorphism of the AR significantly predicted ratings of depressive affect derived from the POMS. These relationships were observed among men with low circulating bioavailable T concentrations, but not among men with average or higher T. The results suggest that low T activity, specifically low bioavailable T concentrations and longer CAG-RL of the AR, may increase the risk of depressive symptoms in certain groups of men. Importantly, these results were found in *young* males, an under-studied age band in which T concentrations are at their highest point during the lifespan when T might ordinarily be protective. Our data suggest that T, via its actions in the CNS, may modulate levels of depressive affect in men. Ultimately, these data may help researchers to develop a clearer picture of precisely how T contributes to depressive affect and mood regulation more generally.

#### References

- Aladamat N., & Tadi, P. Histology, Leydig Cells. [Updated 2021 Nov 19]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK556007/
- Alderson, L. M., & Baum, M. J. (1981). Differential effects of gonadal steroids on dopamine metabolism in mesolimbic and nigro-striatal pathways of male rat brain. *Brain Research*, 218(1-2), 189–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(81)91300-7</u>

Allison, P. T. (1999). *Multiple regression: A primer*. SAGE Publications: London, UK.

- Almeida, O. P., Waterreus, A., Spry, N., Flicker, L., & Martins, R. N. (2004). One year follow-up study of the association between chemical castration, sex hormones, betaamyloid, memory and depression in men. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 29(8), 1071– 1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2003.11.002</u>
- Almeida, O. P., Yeap, B. B., Hankey, G. J., Jamrozik, K., & Flicker, L. (2008). Low free testosterone concentration as a potentially treatable cause of depressive symptoms in older men. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65(3), 283–289.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5-TR)*. <u>https://www.psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/practice/dsm</u>
- American Psychological Association (2019). *Depression Assessment Instruments*. <u>https://www.apa.org/depression-guideline/assessment</u>
- Amiaz, R., & Seidman, S. N. (2008). Testosterone and depression in men. Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Obesity, 15(3), 278–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.0b013e3282fc27eb</u>
- Angst, J., Gamma, A., Benazzi, F., Silverstein, B., Ajdacic-Gross, V., Eich, D., & Rössler, W. (2006). Atypical depressive syndromes in varying definitions. *European Archives* of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience, 256(1), 44–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-005-0600-z</u>

- Asuthkar, S., Velpula, K. K., Elustondo, P. A., Demirkhanyan, L., & Zakharian, E. (2015). TRPM8 channel as a novel molecular target in androgen-regulated prostate cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 6(19), 17221–17236. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.3948</u>
- Aubele, T., & Kritzer, M. F. (2012). Androgen influence on prefrontal dopamine systems in adult male rats: Localization of cognate intracellular receptors in medial prefrontal projections to the ventral tegmental area and effects of gonadectomy and hormone replacement on glutamate-stimulated extracellular dopamine level. *Cerebral cortex* (*New York, N.Y.: 1991*), 22(8), 1799–1812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhr258</u>
- Baird, D. T., Horton, R., Longcope, C., & Tait, J. F. (1969). Steroid dynamics under steadystate conditions. *Recent Progress in Hormone Research*, 25, 611–664. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-571125-8.50017-x
- Bambino, T. H., & Hsueh, A. J. (1981). Direct inhibitory effect of glucocorticoids upon testicular luteinizing hormone receptor and steroidogenesis in vivo and in vitro. *Endocrinology*, 108(6), 2142–2148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/endo-108-6-2142</u>
- Barrett-Connor, E., Von Mühlen, D. G., & Kritz-Silverstein, D. (1999). Bioavailable testosterone and depressed mood in older men: The Rancho Bernardo Study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 84(2), 573–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.84.2.5495</u>
- Bauer, M. E., & Teixeira, A. L. (2021). Neuroinflammation in Mood Disorders: Role of Regulatory Immune Cells. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 28(3), 99–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000515594</u>
- Bay, E., Hagerty, B. M., & Williams, R. A. (2007). Depressive symptomatology after mildto-moderate traumatic brain injury: A comparison of three measures. Archives of Psychiatric Nursing, 21(1), 2–11. <u>https://doiorg.proxy1.lib.uwo.ca/10.1016/j.apnu.2006.07.005</u>
- Beck, A.T., Ward, C. H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., & Erbaugh, J. (1961) An inventory for measuring depression. Archives of General Psychiatry, 4, 561-571.
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. (1996). *Beck Depression Inventory–II (BDI-II)* [Database record]. APA PsycTests. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/t00742-000</u>

- Beiter, R., Nash, R., McCrady, M., Rhoades, D., Linscomb, M., Clarahan, M., & Sammut, S. (2015). The prevalence and correlates of depression, anxiety, and stress in a sample of college students. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 173, 90–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2014.10.054
- Benca, R. M., & Peterson, M. J. (2008). Insomnia and depression. *Sleep Medicine*, *9*(1), S3–S9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-9457(08)70010-8</u>
- Booth, A., Johnson, D. R., & Granger, D. A. (1999). Testosterone and men's depression: The role of social behavior. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 40(2), 130–140.
- Bourgeois, A., LeUnes, A., & Meyers, M. (2010). Full-scale and short-form of the Profile of Mood States: A factor analytic comparison. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, 33(4), 355– 376.
- Boyle, G. J. (1987). A cross-validation of the factor structure of the Profile of Mood States: Were the factors correctly identified in the first instance? *Psychological Reports*, 60(2), 343–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1987.60.2.343</u>
- Bromet, E., Andrade, L. H., Hwang, I., Sampson, N. A., Alonso, J., de Girolamo, G., de Graaf, R., Demyttenaere, K., Hu, C., Iwata, N., Karam, A. N., Kaur, J., Kostyuchenko, S., Lépine, J. P., Levinson, D., Matschinger, H., Mora, M. E., Browne, M. O., Posada-Villa, J., Viana, M. C., ... Kessler, R. C. (2011). Crossnational epidemiology of DSM-IV major depressive episode. *BMC Medicine*, *9*, 90. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-9-90
- Brown, C. J., Goss, S. J., Lubahn, D. B., Joseph, D. R., Wilson, E. M., French, F. S., & Willard, H. F. (1989). Androgen receptor locus on the human X chromosome: Regional localization to Xq11-12 and description of a DNA polymorphism. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 44(2), 264–269.
- Brown, M., Kaplan, C., & Jason, L. (2012). Factor analysis of the Beck Depression Inventory-II with patients with chronic fatigue syndrome. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 17(6), 799–808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105311424470</u>
- Brownlee, K. K., Moore, A. W., & Hackney, A. C. (2005). Relationship between circulating cortisol and testosterone: Influence of physical exercise. *Journal of Sports Science & Medicine*, 4(1), 76–83.

Burke, H. M., Davis, M. C., Otte, C., & Mohr, D. C. (2005). Depression and cortisol responses to psychological stress: A meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 30(9), 846–856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2005.02.010</u>

- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Research*, 28(2), 193-213.
- Cameron, I. M., Cardy, A., Crawford, J. R., du Toit, S. W., Hay, S., Lawton, K., Mitchell, K., Sharma, S., Shivaprasad, S., Winning, S., & Reid, I. C. (2011). Measuring depression severity in general practice: Discriminatory performance of the PHQ-9, HADS-D, and BDI-II. *The British Journal of General Practice*, 61(588), e419–e426. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp11X583209
- Cattell, R. B. (1966). The Scree test for the number of factors. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, *1*, 245–276. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr0102\_10</u>
- Chang, C., Lee, S. O., Wang, R. S., Yeh, S., & Chang, T. M. (2013). Androgen receptor (AR) physiological roles in male and female reproductive systems: Lessons learned from AR-knockout mice lacking AR in selective cells. *Biology of Reproduction*, 89(1), 21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.113.109132</u>
- Chen, Y., Wang, Q., Wang, F. F., Gao, H. B., & Zhang, P. (2012). Stress induces glucocorticoid-mediated apoptosis of rat Leydig cells in vivo. *Stress*, 15(1), 74–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10253890.2011.585188</u>
- Chen, Z., Shen, X., Tian, K., Liu, Y., Xiong, S., Yu, Q., Dai, L., Shi, Y., Zhang, R., Zeng, R., Wan, Q., Xiong, C., & Zhou, Y. (2020). Bioavailable testosterone is associated with symptoms of depression in adult men. *The Journal of International Medical Research*, 48(8), 300060520941715. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060520941715
- Choong, C. S., Kemppainen, J. A., Zhou, Z. X., & Wilson, E. M. (1996). Reduced androgen receptor gene expression with first exon CAG repeat expansion. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 10(12), 1527–1535. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.10.12.8961263</u>

- Choong, C. S., & Wilson, E. M. (1998). Trinucleotide repeats in the human androgen receptor: A molecular basis for disease. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, 21(3), 235–257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1677/jme.0.0210235</u>
- Cleare, A., Pariante, C. M., Young, A. H., Anderson, I. M., Christmas, D., Cowen, P. J., Dickens, C., Ferrier, I. N., Geddes, J., Gilbody, S., Haddad, P. M., Katona, C., Lewis, G., Malizia, A., McAllister-Williams, R. H., Ramchandani, P., Scott, J., Taylor, D., Uher, R., & Members of the Consensus Meeting (2015). Evidence-based guidelines for treating depressive disorders with antidepressants: A revision of the 2008 British Association for Psychopharmacology guidelines. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 29(5), 459–525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881115581093</u>
- Clifton, S., Macdowall, W., Copas, A. J., Tanton, C., Keevil, B. G., Lee, D. M., Mitchell, K. R., Field, N., Sonnenberg, P., Bancroft, J., Mercer, C. H., Wallace, A. M., Johnson, A. M., Wellings, K., & Wu, F. C. (2016). Salivary Testosterone Levels and Health Status in Men and Women in the British General Population: Findings from the Third National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles (Natsal-3). *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *101*(11), 3939–3951. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-1669
- Colangelo, L. A., Sharp, L., Kopp, P., Scholtens, D., Chiu, B. C., Liu, K., & Gapstur, S. M. (2007). Total testosterone, androgen receptor polymorphism, and depressive symptoms in young black and white men: The CARDIA Male Hormone Study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32(8-10), 951–958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.06.014</u>
- Cooper, J. A., Arulpragasam, A. R., & Treadway, M. T. (2018). Anhedonia in depression: Biological mechanisms and computational models. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 22, 128–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2018.01.024</u>
- Cooper, K. M., Gin, L. E., & Brownell, S. E. (2020). Depression as a concealable stigmatized identity: What influences whether students conceal or reveal their depression in undergraduate research experiences? *International Journal of STEM Education*, 7(1), 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-020-00216-5</u>
- Concu, A., Fadda, F., Blanco, S., et al. (1977). Mental changes induced by the oral administration of tryptophan-free amino acid mixtures in man. *IRCS Medical Science*, *5*, 520.

- Correa-Cerro, L., Wöhr, G., Häussler, J., Berthon, P., Drelon, E., Mangin, P., Fournier, G., Cussenot, O., Kraus, P., Just, W., Paiss, T., Cantú, J. M., & Vogel, W. (1999). (CAG)<sub>n</sub>CAA and GGN repeats in the human androgen receptor gene are not associated with prostate cancer in a French-German population. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 7(3), 357–362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejhg.5200298</u>
- Cumming, D. C., Quigley, M. E., & Yen, S. S. (1983). Acute suppression of circulating testosterone levels by cortisol in men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *57*(3), 671–673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-57-3-671</u>
- Daban, C., Vieta, E., Mackin, P., & Young, A. H. (2005). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and bipolar disorder. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 28(2), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2005.01.005
- Daniell, H. W., Lentz, R., & Mazer, N. A. (2006). Open-label pilot study of testosterone patch therapy in men with opioid-induced androgen deficiency. *The Journal of Pain*, 7(3), 200–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2005.10.009</u>
- Davey, R. A., & Grossmann, M. (2016). Androgen Receptor Structure, Function and Biology: From Bench to Bedside. *The Clinical Biochemist Reviews*, 37(1), 3–15.
- Davies, R. H., Harris, B., Thomas, D. R., Cook, N., Read, G., & Riad-Fahmy, D. (1992). Salivary testosterone levels and major depressive illness in men. *The British Journal* of Psychiatry, 161, 629–632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.161.5.629</u>
- Delgado, P. L., Charney, D. S., Price, L. H., Aghajanian, G. K., Landis, H., & Heninger, G. R. (1990). Serotonin function and the mechanism of antidepressant action: Reversal of antidepressant-induced remission by rapid depletion of plasma tryptophan. Archives of General Psychiatry, 47(5), 411–418. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1990.01810170011002
- Denis, L. J., & Griffiths, K. (2000). Endocrine treatment in prostate cancer. Seminars in Surgical Oncology, 18(1), 52–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1098-</u> 2388(200001/02)18:1<52::aid-ssu8>3.0.co;2-6
- DiBlasio, C. J., Malcolm, J. B., Derweesh, I. H., Womack, J. H., Kincade, M. C., Mancini, J. G., Ogles, M. L., Lamar, K. D., Patterson, A. L., & Wake, R. W. (2008). Patterns of sexual and erectile dysfunction and response to treatment in patients receiving

androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. *BJU International*, *102*(1), 39–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.07505.x

- Ding, D., Xu, L., Menon, M., Reddy, G. P., & Barrack, E. R. (2004). Effect of a short CAG (glutamine) repeat on human androgen receptor function. *The Prostate*, *58*(1), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/pros.10316
- Diver, M. J., Imtiaz, K. E., Ahmad, A. M., Vora, J. P., & Fraser, W. D. (2003). Diurnal rhythms of serum total, free and bioavailable testosterone and of SHBG in middleaged men compared with those in young men. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 58(6), 710– 717. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2265.2003.01772.x</u>
- DonCarlos, L. L., Garcia-Ovejero, D., Sarkey, S., Garcia-Segura, L. M., & Azcoitia, I. (2003). Androgen receptor immunoreactivity in forebrain axons and dendrites in the rat. *Endocrinology*, 144(8), 3632–3638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2002-0105</u>
- DonCarlos, L. L., Sarkey, S., Lorenz, B., Azcoitia, I., Garcia-Ovejero, D., Huppenbauer, C., & Garcia-Segura, L. M. (2006). Novel cellular phenotypes and subcellular sites for androgen action in the forebrain. *Neuroscience*, *138*(3), 801–807. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.06.020</u>
- Dubrovsky, B. O. (2005). Steroids, neuroactive steroids and neurosteroids in psychopathology. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 29(2), 169–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.11.001</u>
- Dunn, P. K. (2021). Scientific research and methodology: An introduction to quantitative research and statistics in science, engineering, and health. Bookdown: Online. https://bookdown.org/pkaldunn/Book
- Ebinger, M., Sievers, C., Ivan, D., Schneider, H. J., & Stalla, G. K. (2009). Is there a neuroendocrinological rationale for testosterone as a therapeutic option in depression? *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 23(7), 841–853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881108092337</u>
- Eckenrode, J. (1984). Impact of chronic and acute stressors on daily reports of mood. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 46(4), 907–918. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.46.4.907</u>

- Edinger, K. L., & Frye, C. A. (2004). Testosterone's analgesic, anxiolytic, and cognitiveenhancing effects may be due in part to actions of its 5alpha-reduced metabolites in the hippocampus. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 118(6), 1352–1364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.118.6.1352</u>
- Edwards, A., Hammond, H. A., Jin, L., Caskey, C. T., & Chakraborty, R. (1992). Genetic variation at five trimeric and tetrameric tandem repeat loci in four human population groups. *Genomics*, *12*(2), 241–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0888-7543(92)90371-x</u>
- Egeland, M., Zunszain, P. A., & Pariante, C. M. (2015). Molecular mechanisms in the regulation of adult neurogenesis during stress. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience*, 16(4), 189–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3855</u>
- Eisenegger, C., Kumsta, R., Naef, M., Gromoll, J., & Heinrichs, M. (2017). Testosterone and androgen receptor gene polymorphism are associated with confidence and competitiveness in men. *Hormones and Behavior*, *92*, 93–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.09.011
- Ellegren, H. (2004). Microsatellites: simple sequences with complex evolution. *Nature Reviews: Genetics*, *5*(6), 435–445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1348</u>
- Eser, D., Schüle, C., Romeo, E., Baghai, T. C., di Michele, F., Pasini, A., Zwanzger, P., Padberg, F., & Rupprecht, R. (2006). Neuropsychopharmacological properties of neuroactive steroids in depression and anxiety disorders. *Psychopharmacology*, 186(3), 373–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-005-0188-z</u>
- Ettman, C. K., Abdalla, S. M., Cohen, G. H., Sampson, L., Vivier, P. M., & Galea, S. (2020). Prevalence of Depression Symptoms in US Adults Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JAMA*, 3(9), e2019686. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.19686</u>
- Falkenstein, E., Tillmann, H. C., Christ, M., Feuring, M., & Wehling, M. (2000). Multiple actions of steroid hormones: A focus on rapid, nongenomic effects. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 52(4), 513–556.
- Fava, M., Nolan, S., Kradin, R., & Rosenbaum, J. (1995). Gender differences in hostility among depressed and medical outpatients. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 183(1), 10–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005053-199501000-00003</u>

- Feldman, H. A., Longcope, C., Derby, C. A., Johannes, C. B., Araujo, A. B., Coviello, A. D., Bremner, W. J., & McKinlay, J. B. (2002). Age trends in the level of serum testosterone and other hormones in middle-aged men: Longitudinal results from the Massachusetts Male Aging Study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 87(2), 589–598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.87.2.8201</u>
- Feng, C., Wang, H., Lu, N., Chen, T., He, H., Lu, Y., & Tu, X. M. (2014). Logtransformation and its implications for data analysis. *Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry*, 26(2), 105–109. https://doi.org/10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2014.02.009
- Finley, S. K., & Kritzer, M. F. (1999). Immunoreactivity for intracellular androgen receptors in identified subpopulations of neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in primate prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 40(4), 446–457.
- Gall, H., Glowania, H. J., & Fischer, M. (1979). Circadian rhythm of testosterone level in plasma (I.) Physiologic 24-hour oscillations of the testosterone level in plasma. *Andrologia*, 11(4), 287–292.
- Gao, T., Marcelli, M., & McPhaul, M. J. (1996). Transcriptional activation and transient expression of the human androgen receptor. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 59(1), 9–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-0760(96)00097-0</u>
- Garlow, S. J., Rosenberg, J., Moore, J. D., Haas, A. P., Koestner, B., Hendin, H., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2008). Depression, desperation, and suicidal ideation in college students: Results from the American Foundation for Suicide Prevention College Screening Project at Emory University. *Depression and Anxiety*, 25(6), 482–488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20321</u>
- Ghodasara, S. L., Davidson, M. A., Reich, M. S., Savoie, C. V., & Rodgers, S. M. (2011). Assessing student mental health at the Vanderbilt University School of Medicine. Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges, 86(1), 116–121. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181ffb056
- Gibson, S. J. (1997). The measurement of mood states in older adults. *The journals of Gerontology*, 52(4), P167–P174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/52b.4.p167</u>

- Giltay, E. J., van der Mast, R. C., Lauwen, E., Heijboer, A. C., de Waal, M., & Comijs, H. C. (2017). Plasma Testosterone and the Course of Major Depressive Disorder in Older Men and Women. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 25(4), 425–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2016.12.014</u>
- Goldberg, D., & Fawcett, J. (2012). The importance of anxiety in both major depression and bipolar disorder. *Depression and Anxiety*, 29(6), 471–478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.21939</u>
- Granger, D. A., Shirtcliff, E. A., Zahn-Waxler, C., Usher, B., Klimes-Dougan, B., & Hastings, P. (2003). Salivary testosterone diurnal variation and psychopathology in adolescent males and females: Individual differences and developmental effects. *Development and Psychopathology*, 15(2), 431–449.
- Granger, D. A., Shirtcliff, E. A., Booth, A., Kivlighan, K. T., & Schwartz, E. B. (2004). The "trouble" with salivary testosterone. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 29(10), 1229–1240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2004.02.005
- Gray, P. B., Singh, A. B., Woodhouse, L. J., Storer, T. W., Casaburi, R., Dzekov, J., Dzekov, C., Sinha-Hikim, I., & Bhasin, S. (2005). Dose-dependent effects of testosterone on sexual function, mood, and visuospatial cognition in older men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 90(7), 3838–3846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-0247</u>
- Griffith, N. M., Szaflarski, J. P., Szaflarski, M., Kent, G. P., Schefft, B. K., Howe, S. R., & Privitera, M. D. (2005). Measuring depressive symptoms among treatment-resistant seizure disorder patients: POMS Depression scale as an alternative to the BDI-II. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 7(2), 266–272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2005.05.004</u>
- Gupta, S. K., Lindemulder, E. A., & Sathyan, G. (2000). Modeling of circadian testosterone in healthy men and hypogonadal men. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 40(7), 731– 738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00912700022009486</u>
- Halvorsen, M., Høifødt, R. S., Myrbakk, I. N., Wang, C. E., Sundet, K., Eisemann, M., & Waterloo, K. (2012). Cognitive function in unipolar major depression: A comparison of currently depressed, previously depressed, and never depressed individuals. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 34(7), 782–790. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2012.683853</u>

- Hamilton, J. P., Etkin, A., Furman, D. J., Lemus, M. G., Johnson, R. F., & Gotlib, I. H. (2012). Functional neuroimaging of major depressive disorder: A meta-analysis and new integration of base line activation and neural response data. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 169(7), 693–703.
- Hansen, C. H., Larsen, L. W., Sørensen, A. M., Halling-Sørensen, B., & Styrishave, B. (2017). The six most widely used selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors decrease androgens and increase estrogens in the H295R cell line. *Toxicology In Vitro*, 41, 1– 11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2017.02.001
- Härkönen, K., Huhtaniemi, I., Mäkinen, J., Hübler, D., Irjala, K., Koskenvuo, M., Oettel, M., Raitakari, O., Saad, F., & Pöllänen, P. (2003). The polymorphic androgen receptor gene CAG repeat, pituitary-testicular function and andropausal symptoms in ageing men. *International Journal of Andrology*, 26(3), 187–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2605.2003.00415.x</u>
- Harman, S. M., Metter, E. J., Tobin, J. D., Pearson, J., Blackman, M. R., & Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging (2001). Longitudinal effects of aging on serum total and free testosterone levels in healthy men: Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 86(2), 724–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.86.2.7219</u>
- Hengartner, M. P., & Plöderl, M. (2018). Statistically Significant Antidepressant-Placebo Differences on Subjective Symptom-Rating Scales Do Not Prove That the Drugs Work: Effect Size and Method Bias Matter! *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9, 517. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00517</u>
- Hernandez-Rauda, R., & Aldegunde, M. (2002). Effects of acute 17alpha-methyltestosterone, acute 17beta-estradiol, and chronic 17alpha-methyltestosterone on dopamine, norepinephrine and serotonin levels in the pituitary, hypothalamus and telencephalon of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Journal of Comparative Physiology*, 172(8), 659–667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-002-0282-z</u>
- Hirokawa, K., Miwa, M., Taniguchi, T., Tsuchiya, M., & Kawakami, N. (2016). Moderating effects of salivary testosterone levels on associations between job demand and psychological stress response in Japanese medical workers. *Industrial Health*, 54(3), 194–203. <u>https://doi.org/10.2486/indhealth.2015-0113</u>

- Hirtz, R., Libuda, L., Hinney, A., Föcker, M., Bühlmeier, J., Holterhus, P. M., Kulle, A., Kiewert, C., Hebebrand, J., & Grasemann, C. (2021). Size matters: The CAG repeat length of the androgen receptor gene, testosterone, and male adolescent depression severity. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12, 732759. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.732759
- Holsboer, F., & Barden, N. (1996). Antidepressants and hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenocortical regulation. *Endocrine Reviews*, *17*(2), 187–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-17-2-187</u>
- Holsboer, F. (2000). The corticosteroid receptor hypothesis of depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(5), 477–501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(00)00159-7</u>
- Hsiao, P. W., Lin, D. L., Nakao, R., & Chang, C. (1999). The linkage of Kennedy's neuron disease to ARA24, the first identified androgen receptor polyglutamine regionassociated coactivator. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(29), 20229–20234. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.29.20229
- Hsing, A. W., Gao, Y. T., Wu, G., Wang, X., Deng, J., Chen, Y. L., Sesterhenn, I. A., Mostofi, F. K., Benichou, J., & Chang, C. (2000). Polymorphic CAG and GGN repeat lengths in the androgen receptor gene and prostate cancer risk: A population-based case-control study in China. *Cancer Research*, 60(18), 5111–5116.
- Hu, Y., Ehli, E. A., Nelson, K., Bohlen, K., Lynch, C., Huizenga, P., Kittlelsrud, J., Soundy, T. J., & Davies, G. E. (2012). Genotyping performance between saliva and bloodderived genomic DNAs on the DMET array: A comparison. *PloS one*, 7(3), e33968. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033968</u>
- Hung, Y. Y., Huang, Y. L., Chang, C., & Kang, H. Y. (2019). Deficiency in androgen receptor aggravates the depressive-like behaviors in chronic mild stress model of depression. *Cells*, 8(9), 1021. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8091021</u>
- Ibrahim, A. K., Kelly, S. J., Adams, C. E., & Glazebrook, C. (2013). A systematic review of studies of depression prevalence in university students. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 47(3), 391–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.11.015</u>

- Ikeda, Y., Aihara, K., Sato, T., Akaike, M., Yoshizumi, M., Suzaki, Y., Izawa, Y., Fujimura, M., Hashizume, S., Kato, M., Yagi, S., Tamaki, T., Kawano, H., Matsumoto, T., Azuma, H., Kato, S., & Matsumoto, T. (2005). Androgen receptor gene knockout male mice exhibit impaired cardiac growth and exacerbation of angiotensin IIinduced cardiac fibrosis. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(33), 29661– 29666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M411694200</u>
- Ilgin, S. (2020). The adverse effects of psychotropic drugs as an endocrine disrupting chemicals on the hypothalamic-pituitary regulation in male. *Life Sciences*, 253, 117704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117704</u>
- Irvine, R. A., Ma, H., Yu, M. C., Ross, R. K., Stallcup, M. R., & Coetzee, G. A. (2000). Inhibition of p160-mediated coactivation with increasing androgen receptor polyglutamine length. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 9(2), 267–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/9.2.267</u>
- James, C., Iwasiow, R. M., & Birnboim, H. C. (2011). Human genomic DNA content of saliva samples collected with the Oragene® self-collection kit†. *DNA Genotek*: Ottawa, ON. <u>https://www.dnagenotek.com/US/pdf/PD-WP-011.pdf</u>
- Jiang, W., Zhang, J., Zhou, Q., Liu, S., Ni, M., Zhu, P., Wu, Q., Li, W., Zhang, M., & Xia, X. (2016). Predictive value of GGN and CAG repeat polymorphisms of androgen receptors in testicular cancer: A meta-analysis. *Oncotarget*, 7(12), 13754–13764. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.7337</u>
- Johnson, S. G., Joplin, G. F., & Burrin, J. M. (1987). Direct assay for testosterone in saliva: Relationship with a direct serum free testosterone assay. *International Journal of Clinical Chemistry*, 163(3), 309–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-8981(87)90249-x</u>
- Kaplan, K. A., & Harvey, A. G. (2009). Hypersomnia across mood disorders: A review and synthesis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 13(4), 275–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2008.09.001</u>
- Katz, F. H., & Shannon, I. L. (1969). Parotid fluid cortisol and cortisone. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 48(5), 848–855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI106042</u>
- Keevil, B. G., MacDonald, P., Macdowall, W., Lee, D. M., Wu, F. C., & NATSAL Team (2014). Salivary testosterone measurement by liquid chromatography tandem mass

spectrometry in adult males and females. *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry*, *51*(3), 368–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0004563213506412</u>

- Keller, J., Gomez, R., Williams, G., Lembke, A., Lazzeroni, L., Murphy, G. M., Jr, & Schatzberg, A. F. (2017). HPA axis in major depression: Cortisol, clinical symptomatology and genetic variation predict cognition. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 22(4), 527–536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.120</u>
- Kelley, K., & Maxwell, S. E. (2019). Multiple regression. In G. R. Hancock, L. M. Stapleton, & R. O. Mueller (Eds.). *The reviewer's guide to quantitative methods in the social sciences* (pp. 313-330). Routledge: New York, NY.
- Kelsey, T. W., Li, L. Q., Mitchell, R. T., Whelan, A., Anderson, R. A., & Wallace, W. H. (2014). A validated age-related normative model for male total testosterone shows increasing variance but no decline after age 40 years. *PloS One*, 9(10), e109346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109346</u>
- Kendler, K. S., Karkowski, L. M., & Prescott, C. A. (1999). Causal relationship between stressful life events and the onset of major depression. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156(6), 837–841. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.156.6.837</u>
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(6), 593– 602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593</u>
- Kessler, R. C., & Bromet, E. J. (2013). The epidemiology of depression across cultures. Annual Review of Public Health, 34, 119–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031912-114409</u>
- Kessler, R. C., Sampson, N. A., Berglund, P., Gruber, M. J., Al-Hamzawi, A., Andrade, L., Bunting, B., Demyttenaere, K., Florescu, S., de Girolamo, G., Gureje, O., He, Y., Hu, C., Huang, Y., Karam, E., Kovess-Masfety, V., Lee, S., Levinson, D., Medina Mora, M. E., Moskalewicz, J., ... Wilcox, M. A. (2015). Anxious and non-anxious major depressive disorder in the World Health Organization world mental health surveys. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 24(3), 210–226.

- Kheirabad, M. K., Khodabandeh, Z., Rahmanifar, F., Tamadon, A., Jahromi, B. N., Owjfard, M., & Koohi-Hosseinabadi, O. (2016). Testicular germ cells apoptosis following exposure to chronic stress in rats. *Asian Pacific Journal of Reproduction*, 5(5), 371-375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjr.2016.07.005</u>
- Kim, J. H., Cho, M. J., Hong, J. P., Bae, J. N., Cho, S. J., Hahm, B. J., Lee, D. W., Park, J. I., Lee, J. Y., Jeon, H. J., & Chang, S. M. (2015). Gender differences in depressive symptom profile: Results from nationwide general population surveys in Korea. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*, 30(11), 1659–1666. <u>https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2015.30.11.1659</u>
- Kische, H., Voss, C., Haring, R., Ollmann, T. M., Pieper, L., Kirschbaum, C., & Beesdo-Baum, K. (2022). Hair androgen concentrations and depressive disorders in adolescents from the general population. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-021-01929-w</u>
- Kobayashi, H., & Miyazaki, Y. (2015). Distribution characteristics of salivary cortisol measurements in a healthy young male population. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology*, 34(1), 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40101-015-0068-0</u>
- Kratzik, C. W., Schatzl, G., Lackner, J. E., Lunglmayr, G., Brandstätter, N., Rücklinger, E., & Huber, J. (2007). Mood changes, body mass index and bioavailable testosterone in healthy men: Results of the Androx Vienna Municipality Study. *BJU International*, 100(3), 614–618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2007.07010.x</u>
- Krieger, D. T., Allen, W., Rizzo, F., & Krieger, H. P. (1971). Characterization of the normal temporal pattern of plasma corticosteroid levels. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 32(2), 266–284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-32-2-266</u>
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 16(9), 606–613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x</u>
- Lai, J. J., Lai, K. P., Zeng, W., Chuang, K. H., Altuwaijri, S., & Chang, C. (2012). Androgen receptor influences on body defense system via modulation of innate and adaptive immune systems: Lessons from conditional AR knockout mice. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 181(5), 1504–1512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.07.008</u>

- Lakshman, K. M., Kaplan, B., Travison, T. G., Basaria, S., Knapp, P. E., Singh, A. B., LaValley, M. P., Mazer, N. A., & Bhasin, S. (2010). The effects of injected testosterone dose and age on the conversion of testosterone to estradiol and dihydrotestosterone in young and older men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* and Metabolism, 95(8), 3955–3964. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2010-0102
- Lam, R. W., Kennedy, S. H., McIntyre, R. S., & Khullar, A. (2014). Cognitive dysfunction in major depressive disorder: Effects on psychosocial functioning and implications for treatment. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 59(12), 649–654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371405901206</u>
- Levitt, A. J., & Joffe, R. T. (1988). Total and free testosterone in depressed men. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 77(3), 346–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1988.tb05132.x</u>
- Lewis, J. G., Bagley, C. J., Elder, P. A., Bachmann, A. W., & Torpy, D. J. (2005). Plasma free cortisol fraction reflects levels of functioning corticosteroid-binding globulin. *International Journal of Clinical Chemistry*, 359(1-2), 189–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cccn.2005.03.044</u>
- Liang, T. K. L., & George, T. S. (2012). Men's experiences of depression and the family's role in gender socialization: A phenomenological study from urban South India. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 43(1), 93–132.
- Lim, G. Y., Tam, W. W., Lu, Y., Ho, C. S., Zhang, M. W., & Ho, R. C. (2018). Prevalence of depression in the community from 30 countries between 1994 and 2014. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2861. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21243-x</u>
- Lindzey, J., Kumar, M. V., Grossman, M., Young, C., & Tindall, D. J. (1994). Molecular mechanisms of androgen action. *Vitamins and Hormones*, 49, 383–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0083-6729(08)61151-6
- Liu, X. (2016). *Methods and applications of longitudinal data analysis*. Academic Press: Cambridge, MA. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801342-7.00014-9</u>

- Longcope, C., Kato, T., & Horton, R. (1969). Conversion of blood androgens to estrogens in normal adult men and women. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 48(12), 2191– 2201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI106185</u>
- Lood, Y., Aardal-Eriksson, E., Webe, C., Ahlner, J., Ekman, B., & Wahlberg, J. (2017). Relationship between testosterone in serum, saliva and urine during treatment with intramuscular testosterone undecanoate in gender dysphoria and male hypogonadism. *Andrology*, 6(1), 86–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/andr.12435</u>
- Lopez-Duran, N. L., Kovacs, M., & George, C. J. (2009). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysregulation in depressed children and adolescents: A metaanalysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 34(9), 1272–1283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.03.016
- Lorr, M., McNair, D. M., Weinstein, G. J., Michaux, W. W., & Raskin, A. (1961). Meprobamate and chlorpromazine in psychotherapy: Some effects on anxiety and hostility of outpatients. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *4*, 381-389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710100061007</u>
- Lorr, M., McNair, D. M., & Weinstein, G. J. (1963). Early effects of chlordiazepoxide (librium) used with psychotherapy. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *1*, 257–270. https://doi-org.proxy1.lib.uwo.ca/10.1016/0022-3956(63)90001-3
- Lorr, M., McNair, D. M., & Fisher, S. (1982). Evidence for bipolar mood states. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 46(4), 432–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa4604\_16</u>
- Lubahn, D. B., Joseph, D. R., Sullivan, P. M., Willard, H. F., French, F. S., & Wilson, E. M. (1988). Cloning of human androgen receptor complementary DNA and localization to the X chromosome. *Science*, 240(4850), 327–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3353727</u>
- Ludwig, B., Roy, B., & Dwivedi, Y. (2019). Role of HPA and the HPG axis interaction in testosterone-mediated learned helpless behavior. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 56(1), 394–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1085-x</u>

- Lupu, D., Sjödin, M., Varshney, M., Lindberg, J., Loghin, F., & Rüegg, J. (2017). Fluoxetine modulates sex steroid levels in vitro. *Clujul Medical*, 90(4), 420–424. <u>https://doi.org/10.15386/cjmed-868</u>
- MacLean, H. E., Warne, G. L., & Zajac, J. D. (1997). Localization of functional domains in the androgen receptor. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 62(4), 233–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-0760(97)00049-6</u>
- Malhi, G. S., Coulston, C. M., Fritz, K., Lampe, L., Bargh, D. M., Ablett, M., Lyndon, B., Sapsford, R., Theodoros, M., Woolfall, D., van der Zypp, A., Hopwood, M., & Mitchell, A. J. (2014). Unlocking the diagnosis of depression in primary care: Which key symptoms are GPs using to determine diagnosis and severity? *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 48(6), 542–547. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867413513342
- Malhi, G. S., & Mann, J. J. (2018). Depression. *Lancet*, 392(10161), 2299–2312. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31948-2
- Maney, D. L. (2017). Polymorphisms in sex steroid receptors: From gene sequence to behavior. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 47, 47–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2017.07.003</u>
- Mangelsdorf, D. J., Thummel, C., Beato, M., Herrlich, P., Schütz, G., Umesono, K., Blumberg, B., Kastner, P., Mark, M., Chambon, P., & Evans, R. M. (1995). The nuclear receptor superfamily: The second decade. *Cell*, 83(6), 835–839. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90199-x</u>
- Marcus, S. M., Young, E. A., Kerber, K. B., Kornstein, S., Farabaugh, A. H., Mitchell, J., Wisniewski, S. R., Balasubramani, G. K., Trivedi, M. H., & Rush, A. J. (2005). Gender differences in depression: Findings from the STAR\*D study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 87(2-3), 141–150.
- Marie-Luce, C., Raskin, K., Bolborea, M., Monin, M., Picot, M., & Mhaouty-Kodja, S. (2013). Effects of neural androgen receptor disruption on aggressive behavior, arginine vasopressin and galanin systems in the bed nucleus of stria terminalis and lateral septum. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 188, 218–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.031

- Maxwell, M. A., & Cole, D. A. (2009). Weight change and appetite disturbance as symptoms of adolescent depression: Toward an integrative biopsychosocial model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(3), 260–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.01.007</u>
- Maxwell, S. E., Delaney, H. D., & Kelley, K. (2018). *Designing experiments and analyzing data: A model comparison perspective* (3rd ed). Routledge: New York, NY.
- Mazur, A., & Michalek, J. (1998). Marriage, divorce, and male testosterone. *Social Forces*, 77(1), 315–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3006019</u>
- McCann, D. S., & Kirkish, L. S. (1985). Evaluation of free testosterone in serum. Journal of Clinical Immunoassay, 8, 234–236.
- McHenry, J., Carrier, N., Hull, E., & Kabbaj, M. (2014). Sex differences in anxiety and depression: Role of testosterone. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 35(1), 42–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2013.09.001</u>
- McIntyre, R. S., Mancini, D., Eisfeld, B. S., Soczynska, J. K., Grupp, L., Konarski, J. Z., & Kennedy, S. H. (2006). Calculated bioavailable testosterone levels and depression in middle-aged men. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 31(9), 1029–1035. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2006.06.005</u>
- McNair, D. M., & Lorr, M. (1964). An analysis of mood in neurotics. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 69(6), 620–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0040902</u>
- McNair, D. M., Goldstein, A. P., Lorr, M., Cibelli, L. A., & Roth, I. (1965). Some effects of chlordiazepoxide and meprobamate with psychiatric outpatients. *Psychopharmacologia*, 7(4), 256–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00403692</u>
- McNair, D. M., Lorr, M., & Droppleman, L. F. (1971). *Manual for the Profile of Mood States.* San Diego, CA: Educational and Industrial Testing Services.
- McNair, D. M., Lorr, M., & Droppleman, L. F. (1992). *Revised manual for the Profile of Mood States.* San Diego, CA: Educational and Industrial Testing Services.

- McNair, D. M., Lorr, M., Heuchert, JW. P., & Droppleman, L.F. (2003). *Profile of Mood States.* San Diego, CA: Educational and Industrial Testing Service.
- Mehta, P. H., & Josephs, R. A. (2010). Testosterone and cortisol jointly regulate dominance: Evidence for a dual-hormone hypothesis. *Hormones and Behavior*, *58*(5), 898–906. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.08.020</u>
- Melander, H., Salmonson, T., Abadie, E., & van Zwieten-Boot, B. (2008). A regulatory apologia: A review of placebo-controlled studies in regulatory submissions of newgeneration antidepressants. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 18(9), 623–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2008.06.003</u>
- Melmed, S., Polonsky, K. S., Larsen, P. R., & Kronenberg, H. M. (Ed.) (2016). Williams textbook of endocrinology (Thirteenth Edition). Elsevier: Amsterdam, NL. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-15980-6</u>
- Mendel, C. M. (1989). The free hormone hypothesis: a physiologically based mathematical model. *Endocrine Reviews*, 10(3), 232–274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-10-3-232</u>
- Mhaouty-Kodja, S. (2018). Role of the androgen receptor in the central nervous system. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 465, 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2017.08.001
- Miller, W. L. (2018). The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: A brief history. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*, 89(4), 212–223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000487755</u>
- Moffat, S. D., & Hampson, E. (1996). A curvilinear relationship between testosterone and spatial cognition in humans: Possible influence of hand preference. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 21(3), 323–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4530(95)00051-8</u>
- Moffat, S. D., & Hampson, E. (2000). Salivary testosterone concentrations in left-handers: An association with cerebral language lateralization. *Neuropsychology*, *14*(1), 71–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0894-4105.14.1.71</u>

- Möller-Leimkühler, A. M. (2003). The gender gap in suicide and premature death or: Why are men so vulnerable? *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 253(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-003-0397-6</u>
- Morales, A., Heaton, J. P., & Carson, C. C., 3rd (2000). Andropause: A misnomer for a true clinical entity. *The Journal of Urology*, *163*(3), 705–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5347(05)67788-9
- Morsink, L. F., Vogelzangs, N., Nicklas, B. J., Beekman, A. T., Satterfield, S., Rubin, S. M., Yaffe, K., Simonsick, E., Newman, A. B., Kritchevsky, S. B., Penninx, B. W., & Health ABC study (2007). Associations between sex steroid hormone levels and depressive symptoms in elderly men and women: Results from the Health ABC study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *32*(8-10), 874–883. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2007.06.009
- Mulhall, J. P., Trost, L. W., Brannigan, R. E., Kurtz, E. G., Redmon, J. B., Chiles, K. A., Lightner, D. J., Miner, M. M., Murad, M. H., Nelson, C. J., Platz, E. A., Ramanathan, L. V., & Lewis, R. W. (2018). Evaluation and management of testosterone deficiency: AUA guideline. *The Journal of Urology*, 200(2), 423–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2018.03.115</u>
- Munkboel, C. H., Larsen, L. W., Weisser, J. J., Møbjerg Kristensen, D., & Styrishave, B. (2018). Sertraline suppresses testis and adrenal steroid production and steroidogenic gene expression while increasing LH in plasma of male rats resulting in compensatory hypogonadism. *Toxicological Sciences*, 163(2), 609–619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfy059</u>
- Murphy, M. J., & Peterson, M. J. (2015). Sleep Disturbances in Depression. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*, 10(1), 17–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2014.11.009</u>
- Murrough, J. W., Iacoviello, B., Neumeister, A., Charney, D. S., & Iosifescu, D. V. (2011). Cognitive dysfunction in depression: Neurocircuitry and new therapeutic strategies. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 96(4), 553–563. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2011.06.006</u>
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2017). *Men and Depression*. <u>https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/men-and-depression</u>

National Institute of Mental Health. (2018). *Depression*. <u>https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/depression/</u>

- Nierenberg, A. A., Pava, J. A., Clancy, K., Rosenbaum, J. F., & Fava, M. (1996). Are neurovegetative symptoms stable in relapsing or recurrent atypical depressive episodes? *Biological Psychiatry*, 40(8), 691–696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3223(96)00029-7</u>
- Norcross, J. C., Guadagnoli, E., & Prochaska, J. O. (1984). Factor structure of the profile of mood states (POMS): Two partial replications. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 40(5), 1270–1277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(198409)40:5<1270::aid-jclp2270400526>3.0.co;2-7</u>
- Nyenhuis, D. L., Yamamoto, C., Luchetta, T., Terrien, A., & Parmentier, A. (1999). Adult and geriatric normative data and validation of the profile of mood states. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 55(1), 79–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-</u> <u>4679(199901)55:1<79::AID-JCLP8>3.0.CO;2-7</u>
- Pardridge, W. M., & Demers, L. M. (1991). Bioavailable testosterone in salivary glands. *Clinical Chemistry*, 37, 139–140.
- Patterson, K., Young, C., Woods, S. P., Vigil, O., Grant, I., Atkinson, J. H., & HIV Neurobehavioral Research Center Group (2006). Screening for major depression in persons with HIV infection: The concurrent predictive validity of the Profile of Mood States Depression-Dejection Scale. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 15(2), 75–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.184</u>
- Perez-Pouchoulen, M., Miquel, M., Saft, P., Brug, B., Toledo, R., Hernandez, M. E., & Manzo, J. (2016). Prenatal exposure to sodium valproate alters androgen receptor expression in the developing cerebellum in a region and age specific manner in male and female rats. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 53, 46–52.
- Perogamvros, I., Ray, D. W., & Trainer, P. J. (2012). Regulation of cortisol bioavailability: Effects on hormone measurement and action. *Nature Reviews: Endocrinology*, 8(12), 717–727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2012.134</u>
- Perry, H. M., 3rd, Miller, D. K., Patrick, P., & Morley, J. E. (2000). Testosterone and leptin in older African-American men: Relationship to age, strength, function, and

season. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental*, 49(8), 1085–1091. https://doi.org/10.1053/meta.2000.7710

- Perry, P. J., Kutscher, E. C., Lund, B. C., Yates, W. R., Holman, T. L., & Demers, L. (2003). Measures of aggression and mood changes in male weightlifters with and without androgenic anabolic steroid use. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*, 48(3), 646–651.
- Platz, E. A., Rimm, E. B., Willett, W. C., Kantoff, P. W., & Giovannucci, E. (2000). Racial variation in prostate cancer incidence and in hormonal system markers among male health professionals. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 92(24), 2009–2017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/92.24.2009</u>
- Pope, H. G., Jr, Kouri, E. M., & Hudson, J. I. (2000). Effects of supraphysiologic doses of testosterone on mood and aggression in normal men: A randomized controlled trial. Archives of General Psychiatry, 57(2), 133–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.57.2.133</u>
- Quigley, C. A., De Bellis, A., Marschke, K. B., el-Awady, M. K., Wilson, E. M., & French, F. S. (1995). Androgen receptor defects: Historical, clinical, and molecular perspectives. *Endocrine Reviews*, 16(3), 271–321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv-16-3-271</u>
- Rabkin, J. G., Wagner, G. J., & Rabkin, R. (2000). A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of testosterone therapy for HIV-positive men with hypogonadal symptoms. *Archives* of General Psychiatry, 57(2), 141–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.57.2.141</u>
- Radloff, L. (1977). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385–401.
- Rajkumar, R., & Mahesh, R. (2010). The auspicious role of the 5-HT3 receptor in depression: A probable neuronal target? *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 24(4), 455– 469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881109348161</u>
- Ramón-Arbués, E., Gea-Caballero, V., Granada-López, J. M., Juárez-Vela, R., Pellicer-García, B., & Antón-Solanas, I. (2020). The prevalence of depression, anxiety and stress and their associated factors in college students. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(19), 7001. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17197001</u>

- Reddon, J. R., Marceau, R., & Holden, R. R. (1985). A confirmatory evaluation of the Profile of Mood States: Convergent and discriminant item validity. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 7(3), 243– 259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00960756</u>
- Rey, R. A., & Josso, N. (2016). Diagnosis and treatment of disorders of sexual development. In J. L. Jameson, L. J. De Groot, D. M. de Kretser et al. (Eds.), *Endocrinology: Adult* and Pediatric (7<sup>th</sup> ed, pp. 2086-2118). Elsevier Saunders: Philadelphia, PA.
- Robichaud, M., & Debonnel, G. (2005). Oestrogen and testosterone modulate the firing activity of dorsal raphe nucleus serotonergic neurones in both male and female rats. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, *17*(3), 179–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2005.01292.x</u>
- Rogers, N., Cole, S., Lan, H., Crossa, A. and Demerath, E. (2007). New saliva DNA collection method compared to buccal cell collection techniques for epidemiological studies. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 19, 319-326.
- Rubin, R. T., Poland, R. E., Lesser, I. M., Winston, R. A., & Blodgett, A. L. (1987). Neuroendocrine aspects of primary endogenous depression (I): Cortisol secretory dynamics in patients and matched controls. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 44(4), 328–336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1987.01800160032006</u>
- Rubin, R. T., Poland, R. E., & Lesser, I. M. (1989). Neuroendocrine aspects of primary endogenous depression (VIII): Pituitary-gonadal axis activity in male patients and matched control subjects. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 14(3), 217–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4530(89)90020-6</u>
- Rupprecht, R., Rupprecht, C., Rupprecht, M., Noder, M., & Schwarz, W. (1988). Different reactivity of the hypothalamo-pituitary-gonadal-axis in depression and normal controls. *Pharmacopsychiatry*, 21(6), 438–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-1017043</u>
- Rupprecht, R., & Holsboer, F. (1999). Neuroactive steroids: Mechanisms of action and neuropsychopharmacological perspectives. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 22(9), 410– 415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(99)01399-5</u>

- Rupprecht, R., di Michele, F., Hermann, B., Ströhle, A., Lancel, M., Romeo, E., & Holsboer, F. (2001). Neuroactive steroids: Molecular mechanisms of action and implications for neuropsychopharmacology. *Brain Research Reviews*, 37(1-3), 59–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0173(01)00123-0</u>
- Rupprecht, R. (2003). Neuroactive steroids: Mechanisms of action and neuropsychopharmacological properties. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 28(2), 139–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0306-4530(02)00064-1
- Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Ibrahim, H. M., Carmody, T. J., Arnow, B., Klein, D. N., Markowitz, J. C., Ninan, P. T., Kornstein, S., Manber, R., Thase, M. E., Kocsis, J. H., & Keller, M. B. (2003). The 16-Item Quick Inventory of Depressive Symptomatology (QIDS), clinician rating (QIDS-C), and self-report (QIDS-SR): A psychometric evaluation in patients with chronic major depression. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54(5), 573–583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3223(02)01866-8</u>
- Rush, A. J., Carmody, T. J., Ibrahim, H. M., Trivedi, M. H., Biggs, M. M., Shores-Wilson, K., Crismon, M. L., Toprac, M. G., & Kashner, T. M. (2006). Comparison of selfreport and clinician ratings on two inventories of depressive symptomatology. *Psychiatric Services*, 57(6), 829–837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.2006.57.6.829</u>
- Russo, S. J., & Nestler, E. J. (2013). The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience*, 14(9), 609–625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3381</u>
- Ryan, C. P., McDade, T. W., Gettler, L. T., Eisenberg, D. T., Rzhetskaya, M., Hayes, M. G., & Kuzawa, C. W. (2017). Androgen receptor CAG repeat polymorphism and hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal function in Filipino young adult males. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 29(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.22897</u>
- Sankar, J. S., & Hampson, E. (2012). Testosterone levels and androgen receptor gene polymorphism predict specific symptoms of depression in young men. *Gender Medicine*, 9(4), 232-243.
- Sankar, J. S. (2015). *The role of androgens in life history theories of attachment* [Unpublished doctoral thesis dissertation]. University of Western Ontario. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/3060

- Schmidt, P. J., Berlin, K. L., Danaceau, M. A., Neeren, A., Haq, N. A., Roca, C. A., & Rubinow, D. R. (2004). The effects of pharmacologically induced hypogonadism on mood in healthy men. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 61(10), 997–1004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.61.10.997</u>
- Schmidt, P. J., Steinberg, E. M., Negro, P. P., Haq, N., Gibson, C., & Rubinow, D. R. (2009). Pharmacologically induced hypogonadism and sexual function in healthy young women and men. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34(3), 565–576. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2008.24
- Schneider, G., Nienhaus, K., Gromoll, J., Heuft, G., Nieschlag, E., & Zitzmann, M. (2011). Depressive symptoms in men aged 50 years and older and their relationship to genetic androgen receptor polymorphism and sex hormone levels in three different samples. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *19*(3), 274–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181e70c22</u>
- Schneider, G., Zitzmann, M., Gromoll, J., Ladwig, K. H., & Berger, K. (2013). The relation between sex hormone levels, the androgen receptor CAGn-polymorphism and depression and mortality in older men in a community study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38(10), 2083–2090. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.03.016</u>
- Schweiger, U., Deuschle, M., Weber, B., Körner, A., Lammers, C. H., Schmider, J., Gotthardt, U., & Heuser, I. (1999). Testosterone, gonadotropin, and cortisol secretion in male patients with major depression. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 61(3), 292–296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-199905000-00007</u>
- Scordalakes, E. M., & Rissman, E. F. (2004). Aggression and arginine vasopressin immunoreactivity regulation by androgen receptor and estrogen receptor alpha. *Genes, Brain, and Behavior*, 3(1), 20–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183x.2004.00036.x</u>
- Segal, D. S., Kuczenski, R., & Mandell, A. J. (1974). Theoretical implications of druginduced adaptive regulation for a biogenic amine hypothesis of affective disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 9(2), 147–159.
- Seidman, S. N., Araujo, A. B., Roose, S. P., & McKinlay, J. B. (2001). Testosterone level, androgen receptor polymorphism, and depressive symptoms in middle-aged men. *Biological Psychiatry*, 50, 371–376.

- Seidman, S. N., Araujo, A. B., Roose, S. P., Devanand, D. P., Xie, S., Cooper, T. B., & McKinlay, J. B. (2002). Low testosterone levels in elderly men with dysthymic disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159(3), 456–459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.159.3.456</u>
- Seidman, S. N., Miyazaki, M., & Roose, S. P. (2005). Intramuscular testosterone supplementation to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor in treatment-resistant depressed men: Randomized placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 25(6), 584–588. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.jcp.0000185424.23515.e5
- Seidman, S. N. (2006). Normative hypogonadism and depression: Does 'andropause' exist? International Journal of Impotence Research, 18(5), 415–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijir.3901443</u>
- Seidman, S. N., & Roose, S. P. (2006). The sexual effects of testosterone replacement in depressed men: Randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 32(3), 267–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00926230600575355</u>
- Sherman, G. D., Lerner, J. S., Josephs, R. A., Renshon, J., & Gross, J. J. (2016). The interaction of testosterone and cortisol is associated with attained status in male executives. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *110*(6), 921–929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000063</u>
- Shopsin, B., Gershon, S., Goldstein, M., Friedman, E., & Wilk, S. (1975). Use of synthesis inhibitors in defining a role for biogenic amines during imipramine treatment in depressed patients. *Psychopharmacology Communications*, 1(2), 239–249.
- Shores, M. M., Sloan, K. L., Matsumoto, A. M., Moceri, V. M., Felker, B., & Kivlahan, D. R. (2004). Increased incidence of diagnosed depressive illness in hypogonadal older men. Archives of General Psychiatry, 61(2), 162–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.61.2.162</u>
- Shores, M. M., Moceri, V. M., Sloan, K. L., Matsumoto, A. M., & Kivlahan, D. R. (2005). Low testosterone levels predict incident depressive illness in older men: Effects of age and medical morbidity. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 66(1), 7–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.v66n0102</u>
- Smith, C. G. (1982). Drug effects on male sexual function. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology*, 25(3), 525–531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00003081-198209000-00008</u>
- Smith, D. J., Kyle, S., Forty, L., Cooper, C., Walters, J., Russell, E., Caesar, S., Farmer, A., McGuffin, P., Jones, I., Jones, L., & Craddock, N. (2008). Differences in depressive symptom profile between males and females. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 108(3), 279–284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2007.10.001</u>
- Snyder, P. J., Bhasin, S., Cunningham, G. R., Matsumoto, A. M., Stephens-Shields, A. J., Cauley, J. A., Gill, T. M., Barrett-Connor, E., Swerdloff, R. S., Wang, C., Ensrud, K. E., Lewis, C. E., Farrar, J. T., Cella, D., Rosen, R. C., Pahor, M., Crandall, J. P., Molitch, M. E., Cifelli, D., Dougar, D., ... Testosterone Trials Investigators (2016). Effects of testosterone treatment in older men. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 374(7), 611–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1506119</u>
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., & Williams, J. B. (1999). Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: The PHQ primary care study. Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders. Patient Health Questionnaire. *JAMA*, 282(18), 1737–1744. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.18.1737</u>
- Steidle, C. P. (2003). New advances in the treatment of hypogonadism in the aging male. *Reviews in Urology*, 5(Suppl 1), S34–S40.
- Steiner, M., & Young, E.A. (2008). Hormones and mood. In: J.B. Becker, K.J. Berkley, N. Geary, E. Hampson, J.P. Herman, & E.A. Young (Eds.), Sex differences in the brain: From genes to behavior (pp. 405-426). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Stetler, C., & Miller, G. E. (2011). Depression and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal activation: A quantitative summary of four decades of research. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 73(2), 114–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e31820ad12b</u>
- Svartberg, J., Jorde, R., Sundsfjord, J., Bønaa, K. H., & Barrett-Connor, E. (2003). Seasonal variation of testosterone and waist to hip ratio in men: The Tromsø study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 88(7), 3099–3104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2002-021878</u>

- Szaflarski, J. P., Szaflarski, M., Hughes, C., Ficker, D. M., Cahill, W. T., & Privitera, M. D. (2003). Psychopathology and quality of life: Psychogenic non-epileptic seizures versus epilepsy. *Medical Science Monitor*, 9(4), CR113–CR118.
- Szaflarski, J. P., & Szaflarski, M. (2004). Seizure disorders, depression, and health-related quality of life. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 5(1), 50–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2003.10.015</u>
- Tamir, M., & Mauss, I. B. (2011). Social cognitive factors in emotion regulation: Implications for well-being. In I. Nykliček, A. Vingerhoets, & M. Zeelenberg (Eds.), *Emotion Regulation and Well-Being* (pp. 31–47). Springer Science + Business Media: Berlin, DE. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6953-8\_3</u>
- Tan, M. H., Li, J., Xu, H. E., Melcher, K., & Yong, E. L. (2015). Androgen receptor: Structure, role in prostate cancer and drug discovery. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, 36(1), 3–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2014.18</u>
- Thiede, C., Prange-Krex, G., Freiberg-Richter, J., Bornhäuser, M., & Ehninger, G. (2000). Buccal swabs but not mouthwash samples can be used to obtain pretransplant DNA fingerprints from recipients of allogeneic bone marrow transplants. *Bone Marrow Transplantation*, 25(5), 575–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bmt.1702170</u>
- Tirabassi, G., Cignarelli, A., Perrini, S., Delli Muti, N., Furlani, G., Gallo, M., Pallotti, F., Paoli, D., Giorgino, F., Lombardo, F., Gandini, L., Lenzi, A., & Balercia, G. (2015). Influence of CAG repeat polymorphism on the targets of testosterone action. *International Journal of Endocrinology*, 2015, 298107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/298107</u>
- Tobiansky, D. J., Wallin-Miller, K. G., Floresco, S. B., Wood, R. I., & Soma, K. K. (2018). Androgen regulation of the mesocorticolimbic system and executive function. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 9, 279. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2018.00279</u>
- Tondo, L., Burrai, C., Scamonatti, L., Weissenburger, J., & Rush, J. (1988). Comparison between clinician-rated and self-reported depressive symptoms in Italian psychiatric patients. *Neuropsychobiology*, 19(1), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000118423</u>

- Treadway, M. T., & Zald, D. H. (2011). Reconsidering anhedonia in depression: Lessons from translational neuroscience. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(3), 537–555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.06.006</u>
- Tricker, R., Casaburi, R., Storer, T. W., Clevenger, B., Berman, N., Shirazi, A., & Bhasin, S. (1996). The effects of supraphysiological doses of testosterone on angry behavior in healthy eugonadal men: A clinical research center study. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 81(10), 3754–3758. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.81.10.8855834
- T'Sjoen, G. G., De Vos, S., Goemaere, S., Van Pottelbergh, I., Dierick, M., Van Heeringen, C., & Kaufman, J. M. (2005). Sex steroid level, androgen receptor polymorphism, and depressive symptoms in healthy elderly men. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 53(4), 636–642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53212.x</u>
- UCLA (2021). *How can I understand a categorical by continuous variable interaction?* (*Stata 12*). UCLA Statistical Methods and Data Analytics. <u>https://stats.oarc.ucla.edu/stata/faq/how-can-i-understand-a-categorical-by-</u> <u>continuous-interaction-stata-12/</u>
- Umeda, T., Hiramatsu, R., Iwaoka, T., Shimada, T., Miura, F., & Sato, T. (1981). Use of saliva for monitoring unbound free cortisol levels in serum. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 110(2-3), 245–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0009-8981(81)90353-3</u>
- Van Pottelbergh, I., Lumbroso, S., Goemaere, S., Sultan, C., & Kaufman, J. M. (2001). Lack of influence of androgen receptor gene CAG-repeat polymorphism on sex steroid status and bone metabolism in elderly men. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 55, 659 – 666.
- Veldhuis, J. D., Carlson, M. L., & Johnson, M. L. (1987). The pituitary gland secretes in bursts: Appraising the nature of glandular secretory impulses by simultaneous multiple-parameter deconvolution of plasma hormone concentrations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 84(21), 7686– 7690. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.84.21.7686</u>
- Vermeersch, H., T'Sjoen, G., Kaufman, J. M., Vincke, J., & Van Houtte, M. (2010). Testosterone, androgen receptor gene CAG repeat length, mood and behaviour in adolescent males. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 163(2), 319–328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1530/EJE-10-0090</u>

- Vermeulen, A., Rubens, R., & Verdonck, L. (1972). Testosterone secretion and metabolism in male senescence. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 34(4), 730–735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem-34-4-730</u>
- Vermeulen, A. (1973). Testosterone in plasma: A physiopathological study. *Verhandelingen* - *Koninklijke Academie voor Geneeskunde van Belgie*, *35*(2), 95–180.
- Vermeulen, A., & Verdonck, G. (1992). Representativeness of a single point plasma testosterone level for the long term hormonal milieu in men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 74(4), 939–942. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.74.4.1548361
- Vermeulen, A., & Kaufman, J. M. (1995). Ageing of the hypothalamo-pituitary-testicular axis in men. *Hormone Research*, 43(1-3), 25–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000184233</u>
- Viau, V., & Meaney, M. J. (1996). The inhibitory effect of testosterone on hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal responses to stress is mediated by the medial preoptic area. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 16(5), 1866–1876. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.16-05-01866.1996</u>
- Vittek, J., L'Hommedieu, D. G., Gordon, G. G., Rappaport, S. C., & Southren, A. L. (1985). Direct radioimmunoassay (RIA) of salivary testosterone: Correlation with free and total serum testosterone. *Life Sciences*, 37(8), 711–716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(85)90540-5</u>
- Vining, R. F., McGinley, R. A., & Symons, R. G. (1983). Hormones in saliva: Mode of entry and consequent implications for clinical interpretation. *Clinical Chemistry*, 29(10), 1752–1756.
- Vreeburg, S. A., Hoogendijk, W. J., van Pelt, J., Derijk, R. H., Verhagen, J. C., van Dyck, R., Smit, J. H., Zitman, F. G., & Penninx, B. W. (2009). Major depressive disorder and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity: Results from a large cohort study. Archives of General Psychiatry, 66(6), 617–626. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.50
- Wang, C., Swerdloff, R. S., Iranmanesh, A., Dobs, A., Snyder, P. J., Cunningham, G.,
   Matsumoto, A. M., Weber, T., Berman, N., & Testosterone Gel Study Group (2000).
   Transdermal testosterone gel improves sexual function, mood, muscle strength, and

body composition parameters in hypogonadal men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 85(8), 2839–2853. https://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.85.8.6747

- Wang, P. S., Simon, G., & Kessler, R. C. (2003). The economic burden of depression and the cost-effectiveness of treatment. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 12(1), 22–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.139</u>
- Wang, C., Cunningham, G., Dobs, A., Iranmanesh, A., Matsumoto, A. M., Snyder, P. J., Weber, T., Berman, N., Hull, L., & Swerdloff, R. S. (2004). Long-term testosterone gel (AndroGel) treatment maintains beneficial effects on sexual function and mood, lean and fat mass, and bone mineral density in hypogonadal men. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 89(5), 2085–2098. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-032006
- Watson, S., & Mackin, P. (2009). HPA axis function in mood disorders. *Psychiatry*, 5(1), 166-170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1383/psyt.2006.5.5.166</u>
- Wells, K. B., Stewart, A., Hays, R. D., Burnam, M. A., Rogers, W., Daniels, M., Berry, S., Greenfield, S., & Ware, J. (1989). The functioning and well-being of depressed patients: Results from the Medical Outcomes Study. *JAMA*, 262(7), 914–919.
- Weltzien, F. A., Pasqualini, C., Sébert, M. E., Vidal, B., Le Belle, N., Kah, O., Vernier, P., & Dufour, S. (2006). Androgen-dependent stimulation of brain dopaminergic systems in the female European eel (Anguilla anguilla). *Endocrinology*, 147(6), 2964–2973. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2005-1477</u>
- Westberg, L., Henningsson, S., Landén, M., Annerbrink, K., Melke, J., Nilsson, S., Rosmond, R., Holm, G., Anckarsäter, H., & Eriksson, E. (2009). Influence of androgen receptor repeat polymorphisms on personality traits in men. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 34(3), 205–213.
- Westley, C. J., Amdur, R. L., & Irwig, M. S. (2015). High rates of depression and depressive symptoms among men referred for borderline testosterone levels. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 12(8), 1753–1760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jsm.12937</u>
- Wetzel, C. H., Hermann, B., Behl, C., Pestel, E., Rammes, G., Zieglgänsberger, W., Holsboer, F., & Rupprecht, R. (1998). Functional antagonism of gonadal steroids at

the 5-hydroxytryptamine type 3 receptor. *Molecular Endocrinology*, *12*(9), 1441–1451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.12.9.0163</u>

- Wierman, M. E. (2007). Sex steroid effects at target tissues: Mechanisms of action. Advances in Physiology Education, 31(1), 26–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/advan.00086.2006</u>
- Williamson, M., & Viau, V. (2008). Selective contributions of the medial preoptic nucleus to testosterone-dependant regulation of the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus and the HPA axis. American Journal of Physiology, 295(4), R1020–R1030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.90389.2008</u>
- Willner, P., Scheel-Krüger, J., & Belzung, C. (2013). The neurobiology of depression and antidepressant action. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral reviews*, 37(10 Pt 1), 2331– 2371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.12.007</u>
- Yaffe, K., Edwards, E. R., Lui, L. Y., Zmuda, J. M., Ferrell, R. E., & Cauley, J. A. (2003). Androgen receptor CAG repeat polymorphism is associated with cognitive function in older men. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54(9), 943–946. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0006-3223(03)00115-x</u>
- Yang, C. F., Hooven, C. K., Boynes, M., Gray, P. B., & Pope, H. G., Jr (2007). Testosterone levels and mental rotation performance in Chinese men. *Hormones and Behavior*, 51(3), 373–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.12.005</u>
- Yates, W. R., Mitchell, J., Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Wisniewski, S. R., Warden, D., Hauger, R. B., Fava, M., Gaynes, B. N., Husain, M. M., & Bryan, C. (2004). Clinical features of depressed outpatients with and without co-occurring general medical conditions in STAR\*D. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 26(6), 421–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2004.06.008
- Young, S. N., & Leyton, M. (2002). The role of serotonin in human mood and social interaction: Insight from altered tryptophan levels. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 71(4), 857–865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0091-3057(01)00670-0</u>
- Young, E. A., Lopez, J. F., Murphy-Weinberg, V., Watson, S. J., & Akil, H. (2003). Mineralocorticoid receptor function in major depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60(1), 24–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.1.24</u>

- Young, C. B., Fang, D. Z., & Zisook, S. (2010). Depression in Asian-American and Caucasian undergraduate students. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 125(1-3), 379–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2010.02.124</u>
- Young, S. N. (2013). Acute tryptophan depletion in humans: A review of theoretical, practical and ethical aspects. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience*, 38(5), 294–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.120209</u>
- Zajac, J. D., & Fui, M. N. (2012). Kennedy's disease: Clinical significance of tandem repeats in the androgen receptor. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 769, 153– 168.
- Zarrouf, F. A., Artz, S., Griffith, J., Sirbu, C., & Kommor, M. (2009). Testosterone and depression: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, 15(4), 289–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.pra.0000358315.88931.fc</u>
- Zitzmann, M., & Nieschlag, E. (2001). Testosterone levels in healthy men and the relation to behavioural and physical characteristics: Facts and constructs. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 144(3), 183–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1530/eje.0.1440183</u>
- Zitzmann, M., & Nieschlag, E. (2003). The CAG repeat polymorphism within the androgen receptor gene and maleness. *International Journal of Andrology*, 26(2), 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2605.2003.00393.x
- Zitzmann, M. (2006). Testosterone and the brain. *The Aging Male*, 9(4), 195–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13685530601040679</u>

### Appendices

Appendix A: Poster for Recruitment from Western Campus

# **MALES Needed**

## for a study of Testosterone, Personality, and Experiences in Close Relationships

Eligibility:

- Heterosexual MALE age 18 35
- Open to undergraduates and staff at UWO
- Must have had **at least** one romantic or sexual partner, either currently or in the past 1 year
- Fluent in English

The experiment will last approximately 1 hour.

You will be compensated **\$15.00** for your participation.

You will be asked to:

- Fill out questionnaires about your personality and relationships with romantic or sexual partners
- Fill out questionnaires about childhood experiences with parents/caregivers
- Provide saliva to measure testosterone levels
- Provide saliva to determine the genetic makeup of your hormone receptor

For further information or to make an appointment, please e-mail:

### **Appendix B: Health and Demographics Questionnaire**

#### **Demographics Questionnaire**

Please provide the information requested below. If, for any reason, you wish not to answer a particular item, you are free to leave it blank. All information provided is strictly confidential and will be used for research purposes only. Your name or other identifying information will not appear anywhere on this questionnaire.

Subject Number:	Date:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Age:	Testing tim	e:	
1. In the 30 minute period before your appointment	nt today, did y	ou:	
<ul><li>(a) have anything to eat?</li><li>(b) have a beverage other than water?</li><li>(c) have a cigarette?</li><li>(d) brush your teeth?</li><li>(e) chew gum?</li></ul>	YES YES YES YES YES	NO NO NO NO	
2. In the past week before your appointment today	y, did you:		
(a) have an acute illness (e.g., cold or flu)	? YES	5	NO
3. What time do you normally wake up in the mor	ning?		
On weekdays: On weekends:			
4. What time did you wake up today?			
5. Has anything happened in your life over the past few days that made you feel unusually stressed?	st YES ?	5	NO
6. What is your height? (feet & i	nches) OR		(cm)
7. What is your weight? (pounds	) OR		(kg)
8. Do you attend/work at Western or Fanshawe?	WESTER	N FA	NSHAWE

9. Are you a smoker, non-smoker, or an occasional smoker?

SMOKER	NON-SMOKER	OCCASIONAL SMOKER

10. How often do you normally consume alcohol? (Circle one number from 0 to 4).

0	1	2	3	4
Never	1-2 times	1-2 times	3-4 times	Almost
	a <b>month</b>	a week	a week	every day

11. What is the average number of drinks you have when/if you drink? (Circle one number).

0	1	2	3	4
None	one to three	four to seven	eight to twelve	more than 12

- 13. Have you ever had any accidents with either of your hands that could affect the growth of your fingers?

14. Are you currently taking any prescription or non-prescription medications?	YES	NO
If so, please list the medications you are taking.		

15. Do you currently have any physical condition(s) that	t	
might cause your hormone levels to be unusual?	YES	NO
(e.g., diabetes, thyroid, etc.).		
16. What is your ethnicity?		

 White
 East Asian
 Middle Eastern

 Black
 South Asian
 Pacific Islander

 First Nations
 Hispanic
 Other

17. How many brothers do you have? \_\_\_\_\_ What are their ages? \_\_\_\_\_

19. Up to age 16, I was raised by (check all applicable answers and indicate ages):

Both biological parents living together		From ages	to
Both biological parents, living separately		From ages	to
A biological parent and a step-parent		From ages	to
One biological parent living alone		From ages	to
Another family member (not a parent)		From ages	to
Adoptive parents		From ages	to
Foster parents		From ages	to
Other			
(please specify:	)	From ages	to
20. Is English your first language?	YES		NO
If no, what is your first language?			

21. The following information should be filled out for the parents who raised you. If you grew up in a single-parent home, fill out the information only for the parent you lived with:

#### **MOTHER**

Mother's Usual Occupation or Job (be very specific; e.g., Insurance adjuster):

Mother's Highest Education (check one):

 Grade 6 or less
Grade 7 to 9
Some high school
 High school graduate
 At least one year of college or other specialized training
 College or university graduate
 Master's degree, Ph.D., M.D., or other professional
degree

Province or country where your mother went to elementary and high school:

#### FATHER

Father's Usual Occupation or Job: (be very specific; e.g., Insurance adjuster):

Father's Highest Education (check one):

 Grade 6 or less

 Grade 7 to 9

 Some high school

 High school graduate

 At least one year of college or other specialized training

 College or university graduate

 Master's degree, Ph.D., M.D., or other professional

 degree

Province or country where your father went to elementary and high school:

22. What is your highest level of education (check one):

 Grade 6 or less
 Grade 7 to 9
Some high school
High school graduate
 At least one year of college or other specialized training
 College or university graduate
 Master's degree, Ph.D., M.D., or other professional
 degree

23. If not a student, what is your usual occupation?

## Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Christopher Purkis
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2016-2020 B.Sc., Honors Specialization in Neuroscience
Honours and Awards:	Oral Presentation Winner (Human Cognition & Behaviour) Western University's Neuroscience Research Day February 25, 2022
	Canada Graduate Scholarship – Masters Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) September 2021 – June 2022
	Graduate Research Scholarship The University of Western Ontario September 2020 – June 2022
	Queen Elizabeth II Graduate Scholarship in Science & Technology Province of Ontario Graduate Scholarship (OGS) June 2021
	Western Gold Medal The University of Western Ontario June 2020
	Academic Scholarship Phi Delta Theta Canadian Scholarship Foundation January 2020
Related Work Experience:	Graduate Teaching Assistant The University of Western Ontario September 2020 – April 2021
	Writer Kinect MD November 2021 – April 2021
	Honors Thesis Research Student The University of Western Ontario September 2019 – April 2020

Research Assistant The University of Western Ontario October 2018 – August 2019

Research Assistant The University of Western Ontario May 2017 – July 2017

### **Publications:**

Purkis, C., & Hampson, E. (2021). Individual differences in tasks that recruit the frontal lobe. Society for Behavioral Neuroendocrinology Abstracts, P1.61.